



4 March 2020

# Company Progress in Engaging Smallholders to Implement Zero-Deforestation Commitments in Cocoa and Palm Oil





Company Progress in Engaging Smallholders to Implement Zero-Deforestation Commitments in Cocoa and Palm Oil

Climate Focus with the support of the Tropical Forest Alliance

### Acknowledgements

This report would not have been possible without the support and time of company representatives and experts. We extend our gratitude to all those individuals who took the time to share their knowledge with us.

Cover image from Icaro Cooke Vieira/CIFOR

04 March 2020

Authors: Haseeb Bakhtary Erin Matson Friederike Mikulcak Charlotte Streck Ashley Thomson

# Contents

1.	Executive summary	1
2.	Introduction	4
2.1	Objectives	7
3.	Palm oil and cocoa production	8
3.1	Palm oil in Indonesia and Malaysia	8
3.2	Cocoa in Côte d'Ivoire and Ghana	11
4.	How do companies implement zero-deforestatio commitments?	on 14
4.1	Types of smallholder support programs	17
4.2	Challenges in engaging smallholders	18
4.3	Implementing zero-deforestation commitments in th palm oil supply chain	e 19
4.3.1	Supply chain traceability	20
4.3.2	Forest risk assessments	21
4.3.3	Smallholder engagement	23
4.4	Implementing zero-deforestation commitments in th cocoa supply chain	e 27
4.4.1	Supply chain traceability	27
4.4.2	Forest risk assessments	29
4.4.3	Smallholder engagement	30
5.	Progress and challenges	34
5.1	Companies embrace collaborative and multi- stakeholder action	34
5.2	Progress in tracing direct suppliers and identifying deforestation risks	35
5.3	Systemic barriers challenge smallholder engageme	nt36
5.4	Engaging smallholders at scale remains rare	38
5.5	The political economy of the sector matters	40
5.6	Government support and engagement is key	40

6.	Recommendations for companies 43	3
6.1	Carry out continuous risk assessments, and use these to adapt mitigation strategies 43	
6.2	Tailor support programs to smallholders' local needs43	3
6.3	Devise innovative financing solutions 44	4
6.4	Build long-term partnerships to improve thesustainability of interventions44	4
6.5	Cooperating with stakeholders at all levels is essential to scale efforts 4	
Endno	otes 4	6

# Executive summary

The production of agricultural commodities – including palm oil and cocoa – drives about seventy percent of tropical deforestation. Palm oil alone has accounted for over 20 percent of total deforestation -mostly in Indonesia and Malaysia- driven by the production of agricultural commodities since 2005. The situation is not much better in the cocoa sector. Cocoa production accounts for a relatively lower share of deforestation, yet remains one of the most significant drivers of forest loss in West Africa (where almost 75 percent of global production takes place).

Faced with increased public pressure over the last decade, companies have adopted a range of policies to reduce the deforestation impact of agricultural commodities. This report evaluates actions that companies in the palm oil supply chain in Southeast Asia and cocoa in West Africa have taken to engage their smallholder suppliers to achieve their zerodeforestation commitments. It describes how companies have approached the particular challenges of engaging smallholders, and how effective e these approaches have been.

**Companies with zero-deforestation commitments need to engage smallholders if they are to achieve these commitments.** Smallholders cultivate a significant portion of the palm kernels used to produce palm oil; and produce most of the cocoa grown in West Africa. In Indonesia, 46 percent of the land in palm oil production is managed by smallholder farmers; as are 28 percent of the plantations in Malaysia. In West Africa, smallholders play an even bigger role, producing over 90 percent of the cocoa grown in that region. Given the significance of smallholders in these supply chains, their cooperation is essential if companies want to meet their zero-deforestation commitments. Companies have adopted a range of policies to reduce the deforestation impact of agricultural commodities, and have started to implement zero-deforestation commitments.

It is not easy for multinational companies to engage with the smallholders in their supply chain. Challenges include the complexity of the supply chain, the heterogeneity of the supply base, uncertain land tenure and lack of financial resources and farmer education. While the challenges vary between commodities and locations, a lack of resources, farmer organization and market access are nearly universal in palm oil and cocoa supply chains. Because of these challenges, smallholders require more comprehensive support to shift to sustainable agricultural practices that avoid deforesting than large suppliers and producers.

Actions that increase corporate sourcing transparency and awareness are essential. Complex supply chains make tracking the origins of palm oil and cocoa commodities very difficult; although there has been progress in supply chain mapping and traceability by companies in both supply chains. For example, an increasing number of companies claim total traceability. However, these companies are likely to be making these claims by only referring to company-owned mills and corporate-scheme smallholders in palm oil, and direct sourcing from smallholders in cocoa. Companies that have more complex supply chains face a much more challenging task. Palm oil and cocoa that is sourced from intermediaries and third-party owned mills or warehouses are often very difficult to map and monitor, and a 'deforestation-free' supply is very difficult to guarantee. These companies need to work with supplier mills and middlemen in the supply chain to identify and map all direct and indirect suppliers and build full traceability back to the plantation and farm level. In the end, only larger-scale (i.e. jurisdictional or landscape) approaches can uphold the claim that deforestation is reduced in cocoa or palm supply areas. These approaches remain challenging to implement, and are in most high-risk areas either not existent or in their infancy.

Efforts to engage smallholders remain limited in scope, and engagement programs still fail to reach them at scale. For example, engagement with smallholder palm growers is generally provided in the context of certification and mostly excludes independent smallholders (i.e. those not affiliated with a particular mill). In cocoa sector, buyers offer packages of interventions and services to smallholder producers to secure supplies of cocoa beans that meet their standards. But these efforts are unlikely to be transformative if they do not address poverty alleviation alongside efforts to curb deforestation.

Only a broad financing compact involving companies and public agencies will ensure sustainability in the cocoa and palm sectors. Smallholders are too vulnerable and weakly-positioned to take on the risk of changing their behavior in favor of deforestation-free agricultural practices. Companies cannot expect that zero-deforestation commitments can be achieved without transitional financial support to farmers paired with longterm price signals. Governments also have to acknowledge that zerodeforestation agriculture requires addressing systemic challenges and investing in governance reform, land titling, extension services, law enforcement and support for diversified income sources for farmers. The required investment is enormous. At this point, comprehensive investment plans that would share the burden among public and private actors are nonexistent.

**Pre-competitive collaboration at the level of a production landscape may be the only way to achieve consistent impact at scale.** This is especially the case where supply bases are shared and supply chains are unstable, as is often the case where companies source from independent smallholders. Current company engagement programs are small and poorly coordinated. They may seek to cover risk-areas, but are generally limited to existing farm operations. This means future smallholders – who clear forest to establish a farm – are rarely covered in any program. Other smallholders may buy land that has been cleared of forests by third parties driven by speculation. In both cases, deforestation occurs before farmers generate fruit and enter a supply chain.

Establishing production and procurement standards, such as a certification requirement, is not enough to change producer behavior in smallholder systems. Certification applies harmonized rules and requirements that help to increase transparency around production methods and standardize produce quality. It is often the preferred choice for companies seeking to implement their zero-deforestation commitments since it allows for most of the implementation effort to be outsourced to third-parties (i.e. the certifying body). However, standardized rules become limiting when large parts of the smallholder supply base are not covered; or

when they actively push suppliers into supply chains not covered by commitments (e.g. such as the case of independent palm producers, who can simply switch to supplying a mill that does not require certification). In these cases, deforestation is pushed out of some supply chains, but into others.

Initiatives that seek to achieve long-term transformational change hold potential for curbing deforestation. The Cocoa & Forests Initiative, for example, promotes pre-competitive industry coordination and is designed to be applied at scale. As such it has the potential to increase the sustainability of cocoa production at the jurisdictional level; addressing the risk of pushing farmers into supply chains that are not concerned with the environmental impacts of production. However, the sustainability landscape shows a mosaic of programs that lack coordination and fail to cover smallholders at scale. Since companies have limited interest in addressing larger systemic issues related to poor governance, poverty and human development where these go beyond their business interests, close cooperation between public agencies, donors, and non-governmental organizations is needed. Unfortunately, this cooperative approach is still in its infancy.

#### Tailored approaches to smallholder support yield better results.

Smallholder interventions tend to be more successful if they are based on a clear understanding of the local context, consider smallholder needs and constraints, and follow clear theories of change for action. Decision-making processes informed by stakeholder consultations can help companies to consider the local circumstances that influence smallholder behavior in their outreach and engagement programs. Companies should also consider institutional and organizational support as a key part of smallholder engagement, alongside technical and financial support. Creating and supporting farmer organizations and cooperatives offers opportunities to develop economies of scale for smallholder support.

Overall, companies alone cannot solve the many challenges facing smallholders, making government engagement and support indispensable. Individual company support limited to their own supply chains and those smallholders that supply them is unlikely to achieve transformative change. Eliminating deforestation depends on strong government institutions that implement and enforce land use regulations. Steps to improve income and productivity must be matched with effective control on forest conversion to avoid expansion driven by greater profitability. Support to smallholders to adopt climate smart practices to grow more crops on less land need to become part of the development agenda and policies of governments. Governments also have to ensure legal land tenure, support farmer organizations, and provide proper rights and benefits to farmers. These tasks are the responsibility of national, regional, local governments and customary institutions. Deforestation cannot be addressed in isolation from these underlying social and economic issues. Civil society organizations can also help by mobilizing and sharing knowledge, expertise, technology and financial resources as part of landscape- or jurisdiction-based collaborative approaches with the public and private sectors. Building long-term partnerships is essential for effective and sustainable interventions.

# Introduction

The production of agricultural commodities – including palm oil and cocoa – drives about seventy percent of tropical deforestation.<sup>1</sup> Palm oil alone has accounted for over 20 percent of total deforestation driven by the production of agricultural commodities since 2005.<sup>2</sup> Most of global palm production takes place in Indonesia and Malaysia (together comprising 85 percent of global production).<sup>3</sup> Despite a decline in Indonesian deforestation since a peak in 2016,<sup>4</sup> the burning of forest land to make way for planting and converting carbon-rich peat land to oil palm plantations continue to release millions of tons of greenhouse gases into the atmosphere each year.

The situation is not much better in the cocoa sector. Cocoa production accounts for a relatively lower share of deforestation, yet remains one of the most significant drivers of forest loss in West Africa (where almost 75 percent of global production takes place).<sup>5,6</sup> Côte d'Ivoire's forest cover more than halved from 1990 to 2015. Experts suggest up to 38 percent of this forest cover loss was driven by cocoa cultivation.<sup>7</sup> Deforestation is often the result of migration into forested regions, particularly in the classified, protected forests. In 2018, Ghana saw one of the highest increases in deforestation rates globally.<sup>8</sup> In the Guinean Rainforest regions of Côte d'Ivoire, Ghana, Nigeria and Cameroon, cocoa cultivation increased by 3.3 percent annually from 1988 to 2007, resulting in 2.3 million hectares of forest cover loss.<sup>9</sup>

Faced with increased public pressure over the last decade, companies have adopted a range of policies to reduce the deforestation impact of agricultural commodities.<sup>10</sup> Such policies, which often take the form of 'zero-deforestation commitments', are company pledges to reduce or eliminate deforestation associated with the production, trading, or purchasing of commodities within the company's supply chain (see Box 1). Zero-deforestation commitments help to reduce reputational risk, ensure long-term commodity supplies, protect market shares, and demonstrate corporate responsibility. They can be implemented through a variety of mechanisms, such as adoption of codes of conduct, targets to source 100 percent certified products, or market exclusion mechanisms.<sup>11</sup>

Unlike standards or codes of conduct, zero-deforestation commitments rarely specify criteria for implementation. They are also typically only one part of a corporates' social responsibility efforts and their engagement with smallholders. For instance, companies often seek to respond to demands for improved socioeconomic outcomes from agricultural production in addition to environmental considerations. The challenges, then, go beyond forest loss to include child labor, extreme poverty, declining productivity and a threatened supply base – not to mention the traditional business woes of competitiveness and profitability.

In palm oil supply chains, there is evidence that companies are starting to address deforestation. Eighty-eight percent of companies reporting to CDP,

# Box 1 Forest-related company commitments and definitions

<sup>12</sup> an environmental disclosure platform, claim to address deforestation in their palm oil supply chain.<sup>13</sup> One fifth of Forest 500 companies<sup>a</sup> that sourced palm oil in 2018 had a zero-deforestation commitment, as did over half of palm oil producers and traders assessed on the online platform Sustainability Policy Transparency Toolkit (SPOTT), an initiative of the Zoological Society of London.<sup>b</sup> This high engagement may be because of increased public awareness of the negative environmental impact of palm oil production, which in turn poses reputational risk for companies that source and use palm oil. Moreover, the Roundtable on Sustainable Palm Oil (RSPO) – the most advanced sectoral sustainability certification scheme – offers a platform of engagement for the industry. In 2018, 80 percent of over 1,300 RSPO companies submitted required annual progress reports.<sup>14</sup>

Over the years, corporate forest-related commitments have taken several forms. Depending on their deforestation reduction targets and a company's definition of a forest, commitments can take the following forms:

- A 'zero-gross deforestation' or 'no-deforestation' commitment refers to no gross deforestation of natural forests, i.e. it prohibits all deforestation.
- A 'zero-net deforestation' commitment refers to a company policy that allows reforestation to compensate for loss of forests, with no overall change in the forest area.
- A 'zero-illegal deforestation' commitment refers to a company policy to abide by and align their operations with existing government laws and regulations.
- A 'No Deforestation, No Peat, No Exploitation' policy prohibits development of palm plantations on High Carbon Stock Forests, High Conservation Value Areas, no peat conversion and no exploitation of people and local communities. It does not apply to cocoa.

This multiplicity of commitments and their lack of specificity regarding targets and cut-off dates (i.e. a date after which clearance of natural forests and commodity produced there is noncompliant) has been partly due to a lack of consensus on the definition of forests and deforestation; and partly due to lack of clear guidance on how to set, implement and monitor forest-related commitments. The **Accountability Framework** developed by the Accountability Framework initiative (AFi)<sup>15</sup> has filled this gap by aligning definitions and setting clear guidelines for companies to deliver on their supply chain commitments. The Framework provides a practical roadmap to set and implement commitments, monitor and report on their progress.

In cocoa supply chains, corporate zero-deforestation targets are embedded in the framework of the Cocoa & Forests Initiative (CFI). The CFI was launched in 2017 as a public-private partnership between the governments of Ghana and Côte d'Ivoire and a consortium of leading chocolate and cocoa companies to confront the high rates of deforestation in West Africa driven by cocoa production.<sup>c</sup> The CFI commits partners to stop any conversion of protected forest land for cocoa production, to restore critically degraded and deforested ecosystems, and to transition cocoa production towards less harmful management practices.<sup>d</sup> In March 2019, companies representing 85 percent of the global cocoa trade released Action Plans that

<sup>a</sup> Global Canopy's Forest 500 assesses the 350 most influential companies in palm oil, soy, cattle, paper, and timber supply chains. Global Canopy. (2018). Forest 500. *Global Canopy*.

<sup>b</sup> The Sustainability Policy Transparency Toolkit (SPOTT) developed by the Zoological Society of London is a free online platform supporting sustainable commodity production and trade. SPOTT scores tropical forestry, palm oil and natural rubber companies annually against over 100 sector-specific indicators to assess their performance related to environmental, social and governance (ESG) issues. From https://www.spott.org/about/.

<sup>c</sup> Colombia joined the CFI as third government in 2018.

<sup>d</sup> The various documents supporting the CFI can be found on the webpage of the World Cocoa Foundation, including the aggregated initial company action plans for Côte d'Ivoire and Ghana. World Cocoa Foundation. (2018, August 27). Cocoa & Forests Initiative. *World Cocoa Foundation*.

https://www.worldcocoafoundation.org/initiative/cocoa-forests-initiative/.

describe activities that will be undertaken between 2018-22 to deliver on the commitments set out.

In both supply chains, cooperation with smallholders is essential if companies want to meet their zero-deforestation goals. Smallholders play a very important role in the production of both commodities: they produce about 40 percent of the total supply of palm oil; and almost all of the cocoa in West Africa (estimated 95 percent).<sup>e,16,17</sup> In Indonesia, small-scale agriculture and small-scale mixed plantations together resulted in 22 percent of deforestation during 2014-16.<sup>18</sup> Large-scale palm oil plantations remain an important driver of deforestation, but their contribution to deforestation has dropped from 40 percent in 2008-09 to less than 15 percent in 2014-16.<sup>19</sup> In cocoa, almost all deforestation is driven by smallholders.

However, engaging farmers in deforestation-related programs is not easy. Farmers' low income and poverty make them vulnerable and limit their ability to invest in sustainable agricultural practices. The exposure to shocks triggered by extreme weather events, pests, or disease, and the implication that those shocks have for household income, naturally makes farmers risk averse. The vulnerability associated with weak land tenure security and fluctuating income favor small immediate awards over long-term increase in yield, diversification of income and farm resilience.

Companies' efforts to engage smallholders in the implementation of their zero-deforestation commitments remain limited in scope and scale. Many companies invest in traceability and larger corporate players implement smallholder engagement programs that offer inputs, training and access to finance. However, these efforts are often limited in scale, and fail to effectively address the systemic problems facing smallholders in palm and cocoa production. In palm, corporate efforts tend to focus on promoting and enabling certification, which in the absence of premium payments is of limited appeal to smallholders. In cocoa, company programs often lack coordination and fail to address to constraints such as lack of tenure or diversification of income which would help to empower farmers in the long term.

Company efforts to engage smallholders are also impacted by local pressures and priorities. Changing or inconsistent public policies can negatively affect the ability of a company to successfully implement its commitments.<sup>20</sup> On the other hand, public policies synergistic with corporate deforestation policies can increase the likelihood that a company will meet its own deforestation-related targets. The provision of land tenure security or the facilitation of information sharing and supply-chain transparency are but a few examples.<sup>21</sup> In addition, civil society actors such as local non-governmental organizations (NGOs) play an important role in supporting zero-deforestation commitment implementation as well as holding companies accountable for the progress in implementing and achieving their zero-deforestation commitments.<sup>22</sup>

So far, it is not clear whether company efforts to eliminate deforestation from smallholder operations in palm oil in Southeast Asia and cocoa in West Africa will result in lower deforestation. The rates of deforestation in Côte d'Ivoire and Ghana remain among the highest in the world,<sup>23</sup> and findings on the impact of company efforts to push deforestation from their supply

<sup>e</sup> 40.8 percent of the Indonesian palm oil production area is managed by smallholders (DJP 2015 via Jelsma et al. 2017).

2.1

chains in the palm oil sector remain inconclusive.<sup>24</sup> In the absence of clear data, there is a need to review company efforts to assess their effectiveness and shortcomings.

# **Objectives**

The objective of this report is to evaluate whether companies with zerodeforestation commitments have been successful in engaging commodityproducing smallholders to achieve these commitments. We focus on palm oil companies active in Indonesia and Malaysia; and cocoa companies active in West Africa. Our analysis is based on a systematic review of actions that companies have taken to reduce the deforestation impact of smallholder operations. In doing so, we seek to answer the following questions:

- What have companies done to engage smallholders?
- Which strategies have been successful or are promising, and which ones less so?
- What are the challenges facing companies in successfully engaging smallholders?
- How can the effectiveness and impact of company action be improved?

We begin by providing a short overview of the palm oil sector in Indonesia and Malaysia and the cocoa sector in Côte d'Ivoire and Ghana (Section 3). We then summarize the instruments and tools companies use to implement their zero-deforestation commitments in smallholder systems, including barriers for action (Section 4). This section also contains the empirical core of this paper in that it summarizes efforts companies make to implement zero-deforestation commitments in the cocoa and palm oil sectors. Section 5 summarizes and discusses the findings. And Section 6 lays out some recommendations for companies to ensure effective implementation of smallholder engagement interventions.

# Palm oil and cocoa production

# Palm oil in Indonesia and Malaysia

Indonesia and Malaysia produce 85 percent of the world's palm oil, dominating global palm oil production.<sup>25</sup> Indonesia exports 70 percent of its production, while Malaysia exports 85 percent. Palm oil is a major industry that covers millions of hectares (ha) of land and employs millions of people, contributing significantly to Gross Domestic Product (GDP), employment, income and growth. In Malaysia, 46.6 percent of national GDP from agriculture came from palm oil in 2017.<sup>f</sup> In Indonesia, palm oil contributes 2.5 percent of the country's total GDP, and the sector provides direct and indirect employment for more than 16 million people.<sup>26</sup>

The palm oil supply chain is complex and involves many stakeholders at the supply and demand ends, as well as a few traders in the middle.<sup>27</sup> It is comprised of large-scale plantations, smallholders, mills, refiners, traders, manufacturers, and retailers. Large plantations as well as millions of smallholder farmers – each with different characteristics and levels of market integration – supply fresh fruit bunches from oil palms to mills where they are processed. Due to their perishability, fresh fruit bunches have to be transported to crushing mills – where crude palm oil and palm kernel oil are extracted—within 24 hours of harvest. The oil is further processed in refineries and used in the manufacturing of numerous consumer products. Most palm oil is processed and refined in Indonesia, Malaysia and Singapore, while manufacturing takes place mostly in consumer countries in Europe and Asia.

A handful of conglomerates who are involved in production, processing and trade of palm oil dominate the sector. These companies source palm oil from their own plantations as well as from smallholders and other third-party suppliers, and supply processed palm oil to diverse manufacturers of consumer goods across the world who are increasingly under pressure to source sustainably.<sup>28</sup> Unlike in cocoa, the downstream supply chain in palm oil is highly fragmented, which means individual manufacturers and retailers have less influence on upstream companies.<sup>29</sup> The largest companies who are active in all upstream stages of the supply chain (growing, crushing, refining and trading) include Wilmar, Musim Mas, Golden Agri Resources (GAR), Cargill and Asian Agri in Indonesia, and Sime Darby and FGV Holdings Bhd in Malaysia.

In Indonesia, smallholders cultivate 46 percent of the agricultural land used for palm oil, while large private companies control 50 percent. In Indonesia, smallholder plantations have an average size of 2-5 ha, and a maximum size of 50 ha.<sup>30</sup> The government has encouraged smallholders to cultivate

3.1

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>f</sup> Total contribution of the agriculture sector was 8.2 percent or RM96.0 billion of the Gross Domestic Product (GDP). Total GDP was RM1,371.6 billion in 2017. Department of Statistics Malaysia. (2018, December 31). Selected Agricultural Indicators, Malaysia, 2018. *Department of Statistics Malaysia Official Portal*. https://www.dosm.gov.my/v1/index.php?r=column/cthemeByCat&cat=72&bul\_id=Uj YxeDNkZ0xOUjhFeHpna20wUUJOUT09&menu\_id=Z0VTZGU1UHBUT1VJMFIpaX RRR0xpdz09.

oil palm as a poverty-reduction strategy, and the total area of smallholder plantations has grown from less than 1.6 million hectares in 2001 to 5.8 million ha in 2018.<sup>31</sup> They now control 45 percent of total plantation area and by 2030, this will likely grow to 60 percent indicating the increasingly important role of smallholders in protecting the country's remaining forests and peatlands.<sup>32</sup> In terms of productivity, smallholders in Indonesia consistently underperform compared to large-scale plantation companies, which on average produce 35 percent more palm oil per hectare of land than smallholders (see Figure 1).<sup>9</sup> The main constraints on smallholder yields are a lack of sufficient inputs and labor to maximize harvest potential, as well as insufficient financing for replanting of aging stock.<sup>33</sup>



Figure 1 productivity across palm oil production systems in Indonesia

In Malaysia, there are almost six million hectares of palm oil plantations.<sup>34</sup> Two-thirds of these plantations are owned by large companies, while smallholders cultivate the remaining third of plantations. Seventeen percent of these are cultivated by independent smallholders, and 11 percent by contract or 'scheme' smallholders.<sup>35</sup> Smallholders receive technical and financial support from the government, and their productivity is comparably much higher than in Indonesia.<sup>36</sup>

	PRIVATE COMPANIES	STATE- OWNED COMPANIES	SMALLHOLDERS
Planted area (million ha)	6.4	0.6	5.8
Crude palm oil production (million tons)	20.5	2.1	14
Number of actors	1,569 companies	162 enterprises	1,872,016 households

Palm oil smallholders operate either as independent agents or contract farmers. Independent smallholders are free to market their products but rely on official government extension services for technical support. Smallholders who have contractual arrangements are bound to supply the

<sup>9</sup> Climate Focus calculations based on data from BPS – Statistics Indonesia.

Table 1 Palm oil production andproducing entities in Indonesia in2018

facilities of the contracting firm with oil palm fruits. The firms typically provide financial and technical services to these contractual – or 'scheme'-smallholders. Scheme smallholders typically achieve higher yields than independent growers and enjoy higher income.<sup>37,38</sup> However, scheme smallholders' dependence on oil palm may make them more dependent on palm oil price or production shocks than non-scheme smallholders.<sup>39</sup>

Scheme smallholders in Indonesia are generally those farmers who took part in the Plasma Transmigration Program set up by the Indonesian government in 1987. The program relocated rural Indonesians to oil palm growing areas, assigning two hectares of land to farm and half an acre for housing and food crop cultivation to each household.<sup>40</sup> The scheme farmers were partnered with a company which provided employment while the land was prepared, and after four years, the oil palms were ready for harvesting. The company typically provided technical support, while the scheme farmer agreed to sell their produce to the company at a price set by the government. These scheme farmers are therefore also called plasma farmers.



Figure 2 Area of palm oil production by actor in Indonesia and Malaysia, in million hectares

Source: Data from Indonesia's Agriculture Ministry (2015) and Malaysian Palm Oil Board (2018)

Palm oil mills source fresh fruit bunches from their own plantations, scheme smallholders, or local collectors. Large plantations and scheme smallholders directly transport fresh fruit bunches to palm oil mills. Independent smallholders sell to local collectors that in turn sell to palm oil mills, or they sell to local collectors or middlemen that in turn sell to cooperatives that finally sell to palm oil mills. Hence, there is no direct link between mills/companies and independent smallholders who in turn receive little to no support and often depend on informal land, input, and offtake markets. As a result, smallholders are difficult to monitor through current traceability systems.

Independent smallholders in both Indonesia and Malaysia are rarely organized in cooperatives. This is a critical barrier to their certification and to receiving support from palm oil companies and the government. Cooperatives usually offer better opportunities to develop economies of scale and to distribute costs of compliance among cooperative members.<sup>41,42</sup> However, setting up cooperatives is not easy, and creating a functioning internal management, decision making, and financial management is often difficult to organize. Scheme or plasma smallholders are generally better organized. In Malaysia, for example, scheme smallholders are represented by the Federal Land Development Authority (FELDA) which was established to resettle rural poor and eradicate poverty

3.2

through oil palm and rubber cultivation. It is the largest smallholder organization in Malaysia, controlling over 490,000 ha of smallholder plantations and 330,000 ha of large plantations.<sup>43</sup>

A lack of resources and tenure security limit Indonesian independent smallholders' ability to integrate into sustainable supply chains. Smallholders often also lack information about good agricultural practices, and hence typically produce less productively and sustainably. They often purchase cheap, low-yield seedlings and burn land to make way for crops.44 Therefore, meeting stringent certification standard criteria like the possession of land titles, the use of high-quality planting materials, nonharmful agrochemicals, appropriate fertilizers, and documenting their activities in their plantation is cumbersome for most.<sup>45</sup> A lack of organization among the heterogeneous group of independent smallholders means they cannot leverage economies of scale to access inputs and services or to sell their produce, making it hard for them to integrate in the supply chain. In addition, the increasing demand for certified oil palm and slow inclusion of smallholders in the certification process results in a risk of smallholder farmers to be excluded from company supply chains. This in turn reduces the capacity of companies and government agencies to provide financial and technical support.46

Furthermore, smallholder palm oil farmers have limited access to financial resources. Establishing and maintaining a plantation using sustainable practices is prohibitively costly for smallholders if they are not supported.<sup>47</sup> For example, replanting a smallholder farm – essential to maintaining the productivity of a farm as trees age out of their productive years – costs an estimated 50 million Indonesian Rupiah<sup>48</sup> (about USD 3,590<sup>h</sup>). In Indonesia, 30 percent of all smallholder plantations need to be replanted by 2025, with an estimated cost of USD 5 to 6.5 billion.<sup>49</sup> Even when smallholders do manage to replant, they often struggle to repay loans and maintain a cash flow.<sup>50</sup> Most independent smallholders, therefore, are assessed by banks to be too high risk to access loans because of their ambiguous land ownership status, low income and high risk of default.<sup>51</sup> Access to finance therefore often requires that farmers be organized into cooperatives.<sup>52</sup>

# Cocoa in Côte d'Ivoire and Ghana

West Africa is home to three quarters of the world's cocoa production.<sup>53</sup> Côte d'Ivoire alone accounts for over half of this total (56 percent), with Ghana second (26 percent) and Cameroon and Nigeria third (7 percent each).<sup>54</sup> Cocoa is especially important to the economies of Côte d'Ivoire and Ghana, where it accounts for 28 percent and 9 percent of exports respectively.<sup>55,56</sup> In Côte d'Ivoire cocoa accounts for 10 percent of the country's total tax revenues; and in Ghana it accounted for 1.6 percent of total GDP in 2018.<sup>57,58</sup> Exporting mostly unprocessed beans, with earnings equivalent to less than a tenth of world chocolate sales, neither country captures the large returns higher up in the value chain.<sup>59</sup>

The cocoa market in both countries is, however, highly regulated. Domestically, both the Ivoirian and Ghanaian governments regulate their cocoa markets through their central regulatory agencies: Cocobod in Ghana and the Conseil du Café et Cacao (CCC) in Côte d'Ivoire. Both agencies provide a variety of direct extension services to farmers, have support programs in place to combat cocoa diseases, and provide for inputs and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>h</sup> Based on an exchange rate of USD 1 = 13938.12 Rupiah as on January 6<sup>th</sup>, 2020.

Box 2 Cocoa pricing in the West African market

planting.<sup>60</sup> Farmers receive the farm gate cocoa price determined by the respective government (Box 2).

The world market price for cocoa is determined as an average price for cocoa futures in the New York and London commodity exchanges. Traders pay a slightly different price depending on quality requirements and country of origin. Historically, cocoa prices have been volatile and subject to shocks ranging from oversupply, pests and disease, weather patterns, and civil war.

While the farm gate price in most cocoa producing countries reflect the fluctuating world market price, cocoa pricing in Ghana and Côte d'Ivoire is different. Both countries have cocoa marketing boards that pre-sell part of their harvest in the year before the harvest season starts. The Conseil du Café-Cacao (CCC) in Côte d'Ivoire and the Cocobod in Ghana determine a fixed price around October 1st, when the main crop season begins. CCC fixes farm gate price at 60 percent of the value that the CCC has been able to make pre-sales, while COCOBOD pays farmers 70 percent of the world market price.

In June 2019, Côte d'Ivoire and Ghana proposed a floor price of USD 2,600/ton for the 2020/2021 season, as the price paid to traders (farmers receive a lower price than this after additional fees and costs are considered). However, this was revised following a meeting composed of CFI signatories Hershey, Mars, Blommer, Cemoi, SucDen, Mondelēz, Touton, Barry Callebaut, Cargill, Olam, and Ecom. The revision proposed that buyers instead pay a USD 400/ton fixed premium, called a "living income differential" to be redistributed to farmers as bonuses when cocoa prices fall between USD 2,600 – 2,900 during the season. The goal is to reach a minimum farm gate price and bonus payment of at least USD 1,820/ton. Drawing from recent data collected by KIT Royal Tropical Institute, an average cocoa farmer in West Africa may own between 2-4 hectares of land, and produce roughly 400 kg/hectare. Under the proposed scheme, the average farmer would then earn between USD 1,456 – USD 3,640 per year, which falls short of proposed living income levels.

Over 90 percent of cocoa in West Africa is produced by 1.8-2 million smallholder farmers (Table 2).<sup>61</sup> In Côte d'Ivoire, average farm sizes are reported to be between three and four hectares. Ghanaian farms are estimated to be two hectares on average, though no reliable statistics are available.<sup>62</sup> Very little of the cocoa value is captured by the farmers. The regulated farm gate prices set by the respective governments are significantly lower than the global cocoa price, and farmer incomes in these countries are lower than incomes in unregulated markets such as Indonesia, Nigeria, or Cameroon.<sup>63</sup> For the 2014/15 season, farmers in Côte d'Ivoire only earned 53 percent of the world cocoa bean price, and those in Ghana earned 48 percent.<sup>64</sup>

COUNTRY	NUMBER OF COCOA SMALLHOLDERS
Côte d'Ivoire	1,000,000 <sup>65</sup>
Ghana	800,000 <sup>66</sup> - 1,000,000 <sup>67</sup>

Côte d'Ivoire has a more competitive and liberalized market structure than Ghana. In Côte d'Ivoire, farmers and cooperatives can sell cocoa to local intermediaries or to export cooperatives or companies which hold exportlicenses.<sup>68</sup> In Ghana, farmers sell their cocoa through intermediaries to Licensed Buying Companies (LBC) that are authorized and approved by Cocobod. The LBCs then sell cocoa sourced from smallholders to Cocobod. Farmers receive a bonus payment if Cocobod can market the cocoa at higher than anticipated prices.<sup>69</sup> Farmers' lack of liquidity and knowledge asymmetries make them susceptible to intermediate traders who purchase cocoa at lower prices against direct cash. Other farmers either sell their crop directly to an LBC or a processor.

#### Table 2 Number of cocoa smallholders in Côte d'Ivoire and Ghana

The aggregation and organization of cocoa farmers in West Africa is generally low. In Côte d'Ivoire, over 1,500 registered cooperatives represent 20-50 percent of farmers and are responsible for just over half of total production.<sup>70,71,72</sup> However, most of these cooperatives are not functioning properly, typically due to a lack of capacity, knowledge gaps, funds, infrastructure, and mistrust. The majority of farmers in Ghana are not formally organized (85 percent according a 2011 study)<sup>73</sup>, though they are automatically registered with the Ghanaian Cocoa Coffee and Sheanut Farmers Association (GCCSFA).<sup>74</sup> The GCCSFA is governed by a system of district and regional Chief Cocoa farmers from the cocoa growing districts and regions.<sup>75</sup> However, it is unclear whether farmers perceive to be represented by the GCCSFA.

Future security in cocoa supply is increasingly uncertain due to multiple factors, including: aging trees with diminished productivity, climate change and changes in crop suitability areas, deforestation, soil degradation, and crop disease. A decline in soil fertility– especially in the absence of organic matter and fertilizer application following forest clearing –, the low quality of planting materials, and pests and diseases are some of the major causes of yield decline. This rising insecurity in cocoa supply has the potential to negatively impact the livelihoods of smallholder cocoa producers who rely on this crop for as much as 70-100 percent of their income.<sup>76</sup> As a consequence of low-quality inputs and production methods, yields are low with about 500-600kg/ha in Côte d'Ivoire and about 400kg/ha in Ghana, compared to 1,000-1,900 kg/ha yield of intensified production in the region.<sup>77</sup>

Many farmers address the decline in productivity through farmland expansion into forested areas, effectively 'mining' forest soils for minerals. Area expansion often results from a lack of access to improved inputs and practices, as well as capital to invest in healthier and more productive trees. Replacing aging cocoa trees with new ones would in fact be an option if farmers were to continue cocoa production sustainably. Replanting and rehabilitating trees, alongside proper soil management and fertilizer use, are essential to increasing yields while reducing the need to clear forest land for production. Through improved farm management and pest and disease control, cocoa yields could be increased by 40 percent to 700 kg/ha. Fertilizer use could increase yields to as much as 1,000 kg/ha.<sup>78</sup>



# How do companies implement zerodeforestation commitments?

Companies must take concrete steps to implement zero-deforestation commitments to address forest loss. The implementation process follows a cascade of activities (Figure 3) starting with the public commitments and pledges through which the company announces its intentions. Generally, a company will then formulate a number of internal strategies which aim to change the company's own day-to-day operations. Implementation and compliance mechanisms for zero-deforestation commitments usually include incentive- and sanction-based standards. Incentive-based standards, such as certification programs, are industry-wide protocols with the goal to provide benefits to individual producers for curbing deforestation. Sanction-based standards, such as bans or moratoria, target individual entities or entire jurisdictions and establish penalties for deforestation, typically through market exclusion.<sup>79</sup> Tools for implementing zerodeforestation pledges therefore include the adoption of codes of conduct, targets to source 100 percent certified products, and market exclusion mechanisms (Table 3).80

An essential step in implementing zero-deforestation commitments is to understand where deforestation risks are present in a company's supply chain. This is particularly relevant in the palm oil and cocoa sectors where companies rely on a myriad of smallholder producers spread across wide geographical areas. Companies therefore need to be able to identify the areas in their supply base that represent the greatest risk of deforestation, peat land conversion, or fire.<sup>81</sup> These risk assessments can also be used to develop coherent sourcing policies and appropriate targets and timescales for eliminating deforestation. While it is methodologically challenging to identify the production areas at greatest deforestation risk, helpful tools are increasingly available. Based on satellite data and geospatial information systems, so called "geospatial deforestation risk assessments" collect and analyze information on past and present deforestation events and forest status.<sup>82</sup> When implemented at the level of a cooperative or mill, these systems can help detect changes in forest cover within the supply base. High-risk areas can then be identified to provide producers targeted support and incentives to enhance the sustainability of their production practices.83 Satellite-based tools may also support monitoring of impact after engagement. Tools like Global Forest Watch Pro, which allows companies to use geospatial data to monitor deforestation in their supply chains, can further help companies to coordinate their activities.<sup>84</sup>





Once companies have mapped the smallholders active in their supply chain, they can start to engage them to achieve the company's zero-deforestation commitments. This is commonly done through support programs. These may be run as standalone efforts – whether by the company or by a partner NGO – or may be implemented collaboratively as part of a larger landscape- or jurisdictional- approach.

### Table 3 Company instruments to implement zero-deforestation commitments

POLICY	DESCRIPTION	EXAMPLES
Commitments and High-level commitments	A commitment to achieve a particular outcome in relation to deforestation and forest restoration. Such high-level commitments can come in the form of single-company aspirational pledges or collective commitments. Often, these pledges include a commitment not to convert any forest land (gross deforestation) or a commitment ensuring that forest land be cleared or converted only as long as an equal forest area is replanted elsewhere (net deforestation).	Ten goals of the New York Declaration of Forests, <sup>1</sup> Goals of the Tropical Forest Alliance (TFA) <sup>85</sup> and associated pledge of the Consumer Goods Forum (GCF), <sup>86</sup> Cocoa and Forest Initiative (CFI). <sup>87</sup> While TFA and GCF include palm oil, among others, in their pledges, the CFI focuses on cocoa.
Production standards	A more concrete commitment relating to the production method of palm oil or cocoa. Production standards often exclude certain areas (e.g. no developments in High Conservation Value (HCV) and High Carbon Stock (HCS) or new peat areas), or the exclusion of certain sourcing areas through moratoria.	No Deforestation, No Peat, No Exploitation (NDPE) commitments, e.g. by Wilmar, <sup>88</sup> PepsiCo, <sup>89</sup> or Cargill. <sup>90</sup> An example of a collective and collaborative production standard is the Soy Moratorium of the Brazilian Amazon.
Procurement standards	A more concrete commitment relating to the quality and sustainability of palm oil or cocoa. Such product criteria often relate to the certification of produce.	Mars' s Sustainable Palm Oil Sourcing Policy. <sup>91</sup> Nestlé's pledge to source 100 percent RSPO certified palm oil by 2023. <sup>92</sup> Hershey's commitment to source 100 percent certified cocoa by 2020. <sup>93</sup>
KNOWLEDGE-GI	ENERATING SYSTEMS	
Traceability and supplier mapping	The tracing of produce or its components through stages of a supply chain. NGO initiatives have supported these efforts, e.g. through publishing a Universal Mill List that allows mapping palm oil mills. <sup>94</sup>	In April 2019, Barry Callebaut announced that a third of its global cocoa supply is traceable. <sup>95</sup> In March 2019, Olam announced that they have achieved 100 percent traceability of its cocoa supply chain in Côte d'Ivoire and Ghana. <sup>96</sup>
Deforestation risk assessments	Collection of field data, stakeholder consultations and desk-based analyses of existing information that inform the company of forest risks related to the production area or production practices. Non- governmental organizations and private providers have developed tools to facilitate risk assessments, e.g. Proforest or WRI's Global Forest Watch Pro. <sup>97</sup>	Cargil, Golden-Agri Resources, Louis Dreyfus Company, Mondelēz, Procter&Gamble, and Unilever all use Global Forest Watch Pro. <sup>98</sup>
Monitoring	Assessments of (non-)compliance to the company's sustainability policies. Compliance may be assessed at the level of production or primary processing unit(s) (e.g., farms, farmer groups, or mills), supply chains, or an entire company commitment. Often supported by systems that facilitate the collecting of farm level data and information. This can be directly inputted by the farmer (such as in a digital format) or through a company representative.	PepsiCo Palm Oil Traceability Protocol; <sup>99</sup> Olam Farmer Information System (OFIS); the SHARP Responsible Sourcing from Smallholders (RSS) framework; <sup>100</sup> Lifecycle Assessments (LCA). <sup>101</sup>
Reporting and disclosure IMPLEMENTATIO	Publication of data related to the implementation of commitments, compliance and effectiveness of efforts. DN OF COMPANY POLICIES: INTERNAL COMPANY ACTION	Publicly disclosing company suppliers (direct and/or indirect), e.g. by Unilever <sup>102</sup> and Ferrer <sup>103</sup>
Internal due diligence	Pro-active and re-active company processes to ensure the implementation of company policies.	Information not publicly available
Specific Key Performance Indicators (KPIs)	A system of measurable and auditable metrics to gauge operational performance. When these KPIs are tied to executive and managerial compensation, they can provide incentives for full implementation.	Mondelēz's Cocoa Life program <sup>104</sup>
	ON OF COMPANY POLICIES: SUPPLIER AND PRODUCER ENGAG	EMENT
Supplier codes of conduct	A formulation of binding operational principles for suppliers. If suppliers are noncompliant they may be excluded from the supply chain until they mitigate deforestation risks in their operations.	COFCO's Supplier Code of Conduct and commodity specific policies, <sup>105</sup> Based on its palm oil policy, Mondelēz has excluded twelve non- compliant suppliers from its supply chain. <sup>106</sup> No exclusions are known in the cocoa sector.
Smallholder support programs IMPLEMENTATIO	Programs, financed in whole or in part by companies, intended to provide technical training, input support (extension services), financial literacy and access, and capacity, technology, or financial services to smallholder producers within company supply chains and sourcing areas. DN: COOPERATIVE APPROACHES	Mondelēz's Cocoa Life program; <sup>107</sup> Nestlé and Earthworm Foundation's Rurality program; <sup>108</sup> Musim Mas' Palm Oil Development Scheme for Smallholders (IPODS).
Area management	Development of plans for how to protect particular areas (e.g. HCV/HCS, peat). Actions will depend on the local context and may range from total protection to moderate use of certain areas and co-management with communities. <sup>109</sup> This may include public sector capacity building.	Musim Mas' 'training the trainers' for extension services <sup>110</sup> or providing mapping technical support to local peat agency
Landscape and jurisdictional initiatives	Multi-stakeholder initiatives in a landscape or jurisdiction that include companies, subnational governments, farmers and civil society.	The jurisdictional approach in Sabah in Malaysia includes specific goals for mapping smallholder farms, improving their capacity and facilitating smallholder land registration. <sup>111</sup>

<sup>i</sup> The text and context of the NYDF can be accessed via the NYDF Global Platform: <u>https://nydfglobalplatform.org/</u>

# Types of smallholder support programs

Cocoa beans and palm fruits are primarily produced by smallholders. These smallholders are linked to large companies that procure their produce in raw or processed form, either directly or via middlemen, aggregators and traders, making them an integral part of global agricultural supply chains and markets. Companies therefore play a critical role in incentivizing sustainable commodity production and improving smallholder livelihoods. In cocoa, a relatively small number of off-taker companies control a significant portion of the market, theoretically giving companies leverage to demand a certain standard of practice. Roughly half a dozen companies control the bulk of cocoa sourced from West Africa. The four largest firms (Mars, Mondelēz, Nestlé and Ferrero) own half of the market share of West African cocoa. Most of this cocoa is destined for the Netherlands – the largest importer of cocoa beans in the world – and the United States.<sup>112</sup>

The palm oil market is much less concentrated, though a limited number of companies still control the refining of crude palm oil and have leverage over the mills from which they source.

Since smallholders have limited resources and are directly exposed to climate-related risks, they typically require more comprehensive support to avoid deforestation than large suppliers and producers. Smallholder engagement programs therefore need to be tailored to the local context. Engagement programs should consider the environmental outcome (avoided deforestation) as well as the need to improve smallholder livelihoods to ensure long-term sustainability of supply, avoidance of shifting to unsustainable practices. Sustainable production can only be achieved if there is an investment into the individual farm, coupled with the establishment of a resilient landscape in which farmers operate. This often requires cooperation with non-government and government partners.

Smallholder support programs cover a range of activities that work towards sustainable commodity production. These include interventions across technical, institutional, financial, and technological categories (Table 4). *Technical* support includes capacity building for skills, knowledge, and access to technical resources for farmers to adopt or implement new management practices. *Institutional* support focus on the legal, regulatory, political, or community-based conditions that can help or hinder these practices, while *financial* support is concerned with increasing the ability of a smallholder to afford or receive finance for farm-level activities. Last, *technological* support specifically provides new or updated technology – from tractor sharing to mobile apps – which improve farm infrastructure, enhance coordination or management across a value chain, or increase access to knowledge and data.

#### Table 4 Types of smallholder support

	DESCRIPTION	OBJECTIVE(S)	ILLUSTRATIVE ACTIVITIES
Technical support	Concerns the agronomic skills, knowledge, and access to resources needed to implement and/or adopt sustainable production practices	Provide or expand access to the needed skills, knowledge, and technical resources for farmers to adopt new management practices for sustainable production and/or certification standards	Providing inputs, trainings, farm management plans, farm-level tools, extension services, planting materials, etc.
Institutional support	Concerns the legal, regulatory, and/or political conditions that could enable greater access	Address gaps in the legal or regulatory ecosystem and/or farmers' knowledge of engaging	Assisting with land or tree tenure, awareness raising events, supporting farmer aggregation

	and/or motivation for farmers to practice sustainable production	in these processes to improve farmers' ability to adopt sustainable practices and/or certification standards	points such as cooperatives, community-based natural resource groups, or local governance structures.
Financial support	Concerns the provision of financial knowledge, resources, or contact with financial institutions to access and efficiently utilize affordable finance	Address issues with affordability, accessibility, or high risk of non- repayment of finance to improve farmers' ability to purchase or receive lending for implementing sustainable production strategies and/or achieve certification standards	Improving lending terms in available finance (i.e., grace periods for repayment, lower interest rates, etc.); provide collateral (i.e., off-taking contract) to provide direct loans and/or financial products to smallholders, offer trainings on financial literacy, etc.
Technological	Concerns the provision of new and/or upgraded access to technology or infrastructure.	To improve management, coordination, and/or knowledge for farmers. Includes farmer-to- farmer information sharing, access to knowledge resources, improved production efficiency or outcomes, and/or access to other needed resources to adopt sustainable production practices and/or achieve certification standards	Improving data collection and analysis, information and communication technology, or farm-level infrastructure or agricultural technologies

4.2

# Challenges in engaging smallholders

When designing smallholder engagement programs, companies have to overcome specific and systemic barriers. Because of the complexity of their supply chains, it is not easy for companies to reach and influence the behavior of their suppliers and producers. Often, larger companies with deforestation-related commitments buy products through multiple layers of middlemen and processors. Smallholders may also operate illegally in protected areas. In many cases, they have no pre-existing relationship through which to influence smallholders. Where they buy from smallholders, they rarely maintain longer-term structural relationships. An exception are scheme smallholders in the palm oil sector, which have contractual relationships with larger buyers. Engagement often requires overcoming information asymmetries and enhancing trust to successfully offer capacity, technology, or financial support (Figure 4).

For smallholder farmers changing practices is often cost-prohibitive. It requires smallholders to invest capital that they often lack and to adopt agricultural techniques that are often unfamiliar to them. The upfront costs of a transition to sustainable farm management and the opportunity cost of foregoing short-term revenue are often prohibitive for farmers. This is also a barrier for an individual company when implemented at scale. Engagement can also entail financial risks to the company; in many cases, smallholders are not contractually bound to one company, so they may sell parts or all of their yields to other offtakers, even after benefitting from a company's support program. In the absence of farm transition and diversification programs as well as price rewards, it will be difficult to ensure the adoption of sustainable practices in the long-term. A change on the ground would have to go beyond smaller individual programs, and require multiple and larger programs that change practices at scale without bifurcating the market into 'sustainable' vs 'business as usual' operations; effectively only pushing deforestation from one farm into another.<sup>113</sup>

Other limiting factors include the lack of land ownership rights; weak government enforcement of protected areas; and lack of access to

extension services and information. Many smallholders which pose a deforestation risk lack legal title or permission to occupy the land that they farm. In the context of poor governance, high levels of corruption, a lack of coordination among government agencies, and little resources to ensure enforcement of laws, it is very difficult to ensure the protection of forests. Smallholder programs that improve productivity and diversify farm income must be matched by investments in law enforcement and good governance – also to avoid a rebound effect that drives further deforestation as farm productivity increases.

# Figure 4 Challenges to effective corporate engagement of smallholders to implement zero-deforestation commitments (adapted from Gradl et al. 2012)<sup>114</sup>



Any intervention to address deforestation in small-scale production systems has to consider the large heterogeneity of smallholder farmers as well as the diversity of challenges they face.<sup>115</sup> While many smallholders in developing countries share similar vulnerabilities, each farm has its own characteristics depending on its land and resources, family circumstances, market access and production system. Not all smallholders are equally land- and resource-constrained. To be effective, companies have to understand the constraints farmers face and invest in long-term relationships with farmers that help to overcome insecurity and doubt among farmers.<sup>116</sup> For engagement programs to be effective they have to address multiple challenges in addition to reducing smallholders' impact on forests, such as sustainably improving family income and food security, increasing farmers' resilience and reducing other environmental impacts.

# 4.3

# Implementing zero-deforestation commitments in the palm oil supply chain

Some companies buying palm oil have already begun to engage smallholder producers to achieve their zero-deforestation commitments. This includes actions and programs that directly seek to engage smallholders; i.e. preparatory measures that increase the knowledge base of companies (traceability and forest risk assessments) and implementation of actions that seek to modify smallholder behavior through direct engagement programs.

## 4.3.1 Supply chain traceability

Given the complexity of the palm oil supply chain, it takes a significant investment of resources to build the knowledge infrastructure necessary to implement full traceability. For companies to know whether their supply of fresh fruit bunches or crude palm oil comes from sources not associated with forest clearance and peat burning, they need to trace it down to the plantation level. This requires full traceability back to their own plantations as well as plantations of their third-party suppliers.<sup>117</sup> This is challenging since crude palm oil and fresh fruit bunches are often traded between multiple smallholders and local traders before arriving at the mill.<sup>118</sup> Middlemen usually mix fresh fruit bunches from various sources before they are transported to a mill, without recording or registering their transactions.<sup>119</sup>

This means that companies rarely know from where their suppliers are sourcing. Several large companies report to have achieved '100 percent traceability'. Yet in most cases this refers only to the company's own mills. Data reported are generally estimates and based on self-declarations by companies and their suppliers. This claim also excludes the significant share of a companies' supply that comes from third-party mills, whose traceability cannot always be ensured (Table 5).<sup>j</sup> For example, Golden Agri-Resources has achieved 100 percent traceability from all 43 of their own mills back to the plantation level, but they also source from 403 third-party mills, only 50 of which report full traceability to the plantation level.<sup>120</sup> Similarly, Wilmar reports 100 percent traceability for own mills but only about 15 percent of their 850 third-party supplier mills are traceable to the plantation level.<sup>121</sup>

Companies typically take a two-pronged approach to establishing full traceability in their supply chains. For tracking raw materials processed in their own mills, companies work with plantations, growers, middlemen and smallholders and collect information like names, GPS coordinates, palm oil planted area, certification status and volumes sourced.<sup>k</sup> For third party mills, companies often first identify and prioritize suppliers based on their respective deforestation risk, before reaching out to engage with them to help them reach their own suppliers and smallholders. However, there is limited information on the nature of this support and engagement. To this end, it is impossible to ensure that sustainable and unsustainable palm oil are not mixed. Ultimately, only the strict identification and segregation of fresh fruit bunches at the source of can reduce potential contamination.<sup>122</sup>

Another way to achieve traceability goals is using segregated and identitypreserved, certified palm oil under the certification scheme overseen by the Roundtable on Sustainable Palm Oil (RSPO). The RSPO provides certified palm oil through four types of systems– namely, book-and-claim, mass balance, segregated, and identity preserved – only the latter two options include palm oil that is verified through supply-chain traceability mechanisms and derived from certified sources.<sup>123</sup> Mass balance and bookand-claim systems (where the proportion of certified product is guaranteed, but each unit is not tracked) can still include untraceable and unsustainable palm oil. Yet, out of over three million smallholders, only about 157,000 are RSPO certified.<sup>124</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>j</sup> 63 of 71 companies assessed by ZSL SPOTT (<u>https://www.spott.org/palm-oil/</u>) cannot trace any of their raw materials from their supplier to plantation of origin. <sup>k</sup> Based on publicly available information of 10 companies who report 100 percent traceability from their mills (see Table 6).

Table 5 Traceability approaches from companies with 100 percent traceability of fresh fruit bunches from their own mills to plantations in Indonesia and Malaysia (sources: SPOTT and companies' own reporting)

COMPANY	SOURCING MILLS	STRATEGIES TO ENGAGE WITH THIRD-PARTY MILLS FOR TRACEABILITY
Golden Agri Resources Ltd <sup>125</sup>	43 own mills 403 third-party mills	Identify the number of mills in the supply chain, their names, their addresses and volumes supplied, and engage with them to map their suppliers.
Indofood Agri Resources Ltd <sup>126</sup>	24 own mills 19 third-party mills	Identify name, parent company, address and location of plantation and supplier mill. Regularly audit suppliers to ensure compliance with the company's Supplier Guidelines.
Olam International Ltd <sup>127</sup>	13 third-party suppliers who potentially source from 1,100 mills	Collaborate with direct suppliers to improve their traceability to the plantation. Work with World Resources Institute to assess the risk profile of the 1,100 mills which potentially supply to Olam's direct suppliers.
IOI Corporation Bhd <sup>128</sup>	15 own mills 372 third-party mills	Map third-party supplier mills using location, name and volumes sourced. Review risks using geospatial data, engage with supplier mills to collect data and improve their traceability.
Wilmar International Ltd <sup>129</sup>	45 own mills 850 third-party mills	Work with third-party suppliers to map the location of smallholders and middlemen.

## 4.3.2 Forest risk assessments

Most global corporations do not report on their deforestation risks and their impact on forests. For example, only 30 percent of the 1,500 companies asked by CDP to disclose on their forest-risk commodities (timber, palm oil, cattle and soy) in 2018 did so.<sup>130</sup> And only ten of the 99 palm oil companies assessed by SPOTT in 2019 disclosed the locations of their scheme smallholders;<sup>1</sup> with only 26 companies reporting on their scheme smallholder support programs.<sup>m</sup> Twenty-one companies published some information about independent smallholders who are part of their support programs.

Palm companies increasingly assess forest risk, but typically do not disclose in-depth information on company forest-risk assessments (Table 6). The overwhelming majority of palm oil companies operating in Indonesia and reporting to CDP (89 of 96) have started to conduct forest-related risk assessments.<sup>131</sup> However, information on the methods used and frequency of assessment remain scarce. More information is provided through the SPOTT database, which scores palm oil, natural rubber and tropical forestry companies annually on over 100 sector-specific indicators regarding the public disclosure of their operations, policies and practices related to key environmental, social and governance issues.<sup>132</sup>

Out of the 99 palm oil producers, processors and traders analyzed by SPOTT, only 17 report regularly assessing and categorizing the deforestation risk level of all own and third-party supplying mills. However, the approaches used and information disclosed differs considerably. At least four companies, namely Cargill, Goodhope Asia, IOI and Olam reported to collaborate with the World Resource Institute's Global Forest Watch (GFW) platform. Another two companies, namely Bunge and Wilmar, collaborate with Starling, a partnership between Airbus and the Earthworm Foundation. While Starling uses a comparable approach to GFW Pro in assessing deforestation risk, all assessments typically come at higher granularity and frequency.

<sup>1</sup> Climate Focus analysis based on SPOTT (2019). Palm oil. ESG policy transparency assessments. <u>https://www.spott.org/palm-oil/</u> <sup>m</sup> Climate Focus analysis based on SPOTT (2019). Palm oil.

Mapping independent smallholder suppliers remains difficult since information about their location is scarce and data generation is costly. Large companies often rely on hundreds of thousands of external suppliers to fill the demands of their processing and trading facilities. While monitoring mills are a positive step forward, companies and the palm oil industry will be unable to meet deforestation-free pledges without tracing palm oil purchases to the plantation source. As long as the exact sources of fresh fruit bunches cannot be identified and hence segregated at the mill, a contamination of supply with produce from deforested areas cannot be guaranteed.<sup>133</sup> Several of the assessed companies disclose the names and coordinates of both supplying mills and concessions. Third-party smallholder suppliers are much more difficult to identify and map. To this end, tools like the GeoTraceability Platform for Palm Oil, which allow to map commodity suppliers, can help companies to gain visibility on the suppliers delivering fresh fruit bunches to independent palm oil mills, as well as gain insights on the different supply channels.<sup>134</sup>

# Table 6 A sample of SPOTT-listed palm oil producing or trading companies conducting deforestation risk assessments

SPOTT COMPANY	MAPPING APPROACH	RISK ASSESSMENT APPROACH
Golden Agri Resources Ltd (Producer and exporter)	Concession boundaries and scheme smallholder boundaries are made available to the RSPO, which are declared to represent 100 percent of the company's concession sites. Maps will become available on GeoRSPO.	Golden Agri Resources Ltd has piloted the monitoring of deforestation since 2016 in the Semitau region using satellites, drones and ground verification. Plans to roll out monitoring to all estates from 2017, but no updates are provided. Uses supply chain mapping methods and technology, namely GeoTraceability and Koltiva135.
Cargill Inc. (Trader of oil and kernel)	Submitted concession boundaries to the RSPO and declares these represent 100 percent of its concession sites, but they may not all be available due to ongoing legal issues. Maps will become available on GeoRSPO.	Uses WRI's PALM Risk Tool to assess risk levels of mills, and reports the share of low, medium and high-risk mills on an annual basis. Monitors deforestation of 100 percent of mills near real-time based on WRI's GFW Pro including radar technology, but does not report figures for non-compliant deforestation. <sup>136</sup> Mapping of supply chain in high-risk landscapes to the plantation level using a 'risk-calibrated approach', but no further details are provided.
IOI Corporation Bhd (Producer and exporter)	IOI's three-step palm oil verification approach requires that all mills and refineries in the supply chain disclose information such as GPS coordinates and ownership groups.	Monitoring of oil palm plantations and supply chain through WRI's GFW platform. Conducts mill risk reviews by means of remote sensing and geospatial analysis supported by the Earthworm Foundation. Prioritizes high-risk mills for engagement. <sup>137</sup>
Olam International Ltd (Producer, trader, refiner)	Maps of estates are disclosed. Company does not source from plasma scheme smallholders.	Partnered with Proforest and WRI to assess the risk profile of the 1,100 mills which potentially supply Olam's direct suppliers, based on GFW Pro. <sup>138</sup>
Wilmar International Ltd (Producer and exporter)	Boundaries of both concessions and scheme smallholders have been made available to the RSPO. Maps will become available on GeoRSPO. The names of over 850 supplying mills in both Indonesia and Malaysia can be found through the company's Supply Chain Map.	Uses the Spatial Monitoring, drones and Reporting Tool (SMART) to monitor HCV areas and to identify threats. Plans to support Earthworm's 'Starling' system to foster deforestation monitoring and expedite ground- truthing in critical landscapes. Company has internal compliance teams to conduct annual internal audits of its own mills, and conducts risk screening of third-party mills
		through their Aggregator Refinery Transformation (ART) Program. No further details are provided. <sup>139</sup>

## 4.3.3 Smallholder engagement

Out of the 69 largest palm oil producers, processors and traders operating in Indonesia and Malaysia, only 39 have programs to engage smallholder producers.<sup>n</sup> These programs cover about 18 percent of total palm oil smallholders – mostly scheme smallholders – active in these countries (Figure 5). The level of detail that companies publish about their activities to support smallholders varies but is limited and vague. A look at the smallholder support programs of twelve palm oil companies – based on the size of their operations and availability of information – revealed that all of these companies except one have programs to support both their scheme and independent smallholders (Table 7).



Smallholders covered by company programs

Smallholders not covered by company programs

Company support is generally provided in the context of certification and mostly to scheme smallholders. This includes support to improve their farm practices to enable them to achieve certification under standards like the RSPO and national standards (Indonesian Sustainable Palm Oil Standard and Malaysian Sustainable Palm Oil Standard). Scheme smallholders who have supply agreements with a company are organized in cooperatives and typically receive technical and financial support from the company as part of their agreement.<sup>140</sup> This has helped them to perform better in good agricultural practices and in compliance with certification standards compared to independent smallholders.<sup>141</sup> It is therefore not surprising that globally more than 356,000 hectares of scheme smallholder plantations are RSPO certified, compared to only about 28,000 hectares of independent smallholder plantations.<sup>142</sup> Most independent smallholders have little knowledge of good agricultural practices and lower productivity compared to scheme smallholders and large plantations; and tend to expand their plantations through conversion of peatland and forests.<sup>143</sup>

RSPO has made efforts to scale certification among independent smallholders - without meaningful impact so far. RSPO adopted certification guidelines and requirements specific to smallholders,<sup>144</sup> and established the Smallholders Support Fund to fund the costs of smallholder certification.<sup>p</sup>

<sup>n</sup> Climate Focus analysis based on the assessment of 99 palm oil producers, processors and traders by SPOTT. See <u>https://www.spott.org/palm-oil/.</u>
<sup>o</sup> Sources: (1) Azman et al., 2018; (2) Federal Land Development Authority (FELDA) (3) Statistik Perkebunan Indonesia Komoditas Kelapa Sawit 2016-2018 and ZSL SPOTT palm oil ESG policy transparency assessments 2019. Thirty-nine companies report to cover under their smallholder programs.

<sup>p</sup> See Introduction to RSSF at https://www.rspo.org/smallholders/introduction-rssf

Figure 5 Smallholders covered by company support programs in Indonesia and Malaysia<sup>o</sup> Despite this, most independent smallholders continue to find it difficult to achieve certification and the number of certified smallholders remain limited; with fewer than 3,400 independent smallholders in Indonesia and Malaysia certified so far.<sup>145</sup> One challenge is maintaining records and documentation of farm practices, which is a requirement under RSPO.<sup>146</sup> Another challenge is the upfront costs and costs of maintaining certification.<sup>147</sup> In addition, independent smallholders often perceive certification schemes as incapable of addressing their key challenges such as the condition of their plantations, yield increase, farm input needs, farm management costs, and plantation distance from mills.<sup>148</sup>

Companies are increasingly engaging with independent smallholders, but challenges mean they are yet to reach them in meaningful numbers. Most companies we assessed report some engagement with smallholders, but many do not appear to be engaging deeply and across their full supply chain. Only two of the assessed companies report to support the majority of their independent smallholders. These smallholders are often invisible to authorities and companies given their geographically dispersed locations and reliance on middlemen to access the market.<sup>149</sup> Even when companies map and identify their independent smallholder suppliers, they struggle to effectively work with them because of their lack of organization, unclear land title and unwillingness to cooperate with companies.<sup>150</sup> Lack of support by local governments further impedes company efforts to engage smallholders in remote rural areas.<sup>151</sup> In some regions in Indonesia, company efforts are even met with resistance by local governments.<sup>152</sup>

Where companies reach independent smallholders, they try to integrate them into their supply chain. Companies provide capacity building in farm management, training in good agricultural practices, and agricultural inputs.<sup>q</sup> For example, Asian Agri reports to work with independent smallholders that combined cultivate 41,000 hectares of land in Indonesia with the aim to build long-term partnerships under the company's Corporate Shared Values program.<sup>153,154</sup> As part of this program, the company informs smallholders about corporate policies and compliance requirements. Further engagement activities include trainings to access financing, and support to obtain land registration documents and certification.<sup>155</sup> However, in the absence of independent verification and reporting of such programs it is difficult to assess their effectiveness and impact.

A small number of companies are implementing innovative financing solutions to help independent smallholders integrate into sustainable supply chains. These are based on collaborative efforts between companies, government, civil society and financial institutions to address smallholder challenges from multiple angles. Examples of such multi-stakeholder programs in Indonesia include:

- The Innovative Financing Scheme of Golden Agri Resources. The government supports smallholders in legalizing their land ownership, and Golden Agri Resources provides them with high-quality inputs, subsidized interest loans, Indonesian Sustainable Palm Oil certification support, and four years of compensation during the production gap resulting from replantation.<sup>156</sup>
- Indonesian Palm Oil Development for Smallholders Program of Musim Mas. Musim Mas provides independent smallholders with agronomic training, financial support, and ultimately access to global markets. To this end, Musim Mas has signed a Memorandum

<sup>q</sup> Based on an analysis of smallholder support programs of 12 palm oil companies operating in Malaysia and Indonesia.

of Understanding with the Bank Negara Indonesia in supporting smallholders and tested different approaches to increase farmers' access to credit. In addition, Musim Mas and International Finance Corporation train members of the local community in providing agronomic skills to smallholders. This allows the local community to take ownership of the program, improving the local standard of agricultural knowledge and multiplying the program's reach while reducing costs.<sup>157</sup>

#### Table 7 Examples of company smallholder support programs

COMPANY NAME	SUPPLY CHAIN SUSTAINABILITY POLICY	OBJECTIVES
Sime Darby Plantation Sdn Bhd	Scheme Smallholder Support Program Independent Smallholder Support	<ul> <li>build capacity on the Good Agricultural Practices</li> <li>RSPO, Indonesian Sustainable Palm Oil or Malaysian Sustainable Palm Oil certification</li> <li>promote community resource management</li> <li>not specified</li> </ul>
Golden Agri Resources Ltd	Program Scheme Smallholder Support Program	<ul> <li>build capacity on the Good Agricultural Practices, especially on integrated pest management and fertilizer management</li> <li>provide plasma smallholders with high-yielding seeds and good quality fertilizers</li> </ul>
	Independent Smallholder Support Program	<ul> <li>help farmers achieve legality as well as ISPO certification, improve their product marketing skills, enhance their natural environment and key habitat areas (in partnership with Nestlé and Earthworm Foundation)</li> <li>enable access to financing and help to sustain smallholder's livelihoods during the four years it takes for the new seedlings to mature, and thus encourage more independent smallholders to replant with better quality, higher-yielding seeds</li> </ul>
FGV Holdings Bhd	Scheme & Independent Smallholder Support Program	<ul> <li>raise productivity</li> <li>impart knowledge on methods to improve yields, Good Agricultural Practices, Personal Protective Equipment for safety, and bookkeeping for financial management</li> <li>disseminate Sustainability practices throughout the palm oil value chain to protect biodiversity and the ecosystem</li> </ul>
Indofood Agri Resources Ltd	Scheme Smallholder Support Program	<ul> <li>obtain ISPO certification</li> <li>provide affordable seeds and fertilizers</li> <li>high standards of agronomy and productivity</li> <li>provide loans and help with financial management</li> </ul>
	Independent Smallholder Support Program	<ul> <li>obtain RSPO certification</li> <li>improve access to markets, agricultural practices, and safer labor practices</li> <li>improve yields</li> </ul>
Wilmar International Ltd	Scheme Smallholder Support Program Independent Smallholder Support Program	
Kuala Lumpur Kepong Bhd	Scheme Smallholder Support Program	<ul> <li>obtain certification</li> <li>fund the initial financing of the scheme and manage the Kredit Koperasi Primer Anggota (KKPA) Scheme until the borrowings are repaid</li> </ul>
IOI Corporation Bhd	Scheme Smallholder Support Program	<ul> <li>obtain MSPO certification</li> <li>implement best management practices</li> <li>boost small farmers' productivity</li> <li>enable transparency and data gathering</li> <li>monitor third-party suppliers to ensure compliance to the company's</li> </ul>
Musim Mas	Smallholder Support Program Scheme Smallholder Support Program	<ul> <li>policy commitments</li> <li>empower local communities to achieve the necessary technology for sustainable agriculture</li> </ul>

		-	provide practical support, including bank loan guarantees
		-	provide quality seeds and fertilizers
	Independent Smallholder Support	-	support independent smallholders in meeting the same efficient farming standards as those adopted by large palm oil organizations
<b>O</b> =	Program Scheme &	-	facilitate the local community to take ownership of the program to lead community-based identification, protection and restoration
Cargill	Independent	-	efforts of local HCV and HCS peatlands
	Smallholder Support	-	obtain RSPO certification
	Program	-	avoid application of herbicides and use palm oil mill by-products,
			including empty fruit bunches, as natural fertilizer
Astra Agro Lestari	Scheme Smallholder	-	obtain ISPO certification
Tbk PT	Support Program	-	support the implementation of sustainability principles
		-	provide workshops on the company's sustainability policy
	Independent Smallholder Support	-	enable access to market information, technology, and capital to improve productivity, business efficiency, income, and welfare
	Program	_	ease the access to capital loans, guarantee in resource/material
	riogram	-	provision, guarantee in plantation development standards, guarantee
			in fresh fruit bunch reception priority and partner smallholder's income
		-	obtain ISPO certification
Asian Agri	Scheme Smallholder	-	raise awareness on the company's sustainability policy
- total in the second	Support Program	-	train the plasma smallholders to implement sustainability principles in
			their oil palm plantations
		-	assist smallholders to acquire bank loans and repay these debts
		-	regular meetings among smallholders
	Independent	-	provide training and support in agronomy best management practices
	Smallholder Support	-	support to smallholders to form cooperatives provide smallholders with access to market information
	Program	-	provide financial support to acquire fertilizers and build infrastructure
DEA Haldinga pla	Scheme Smallholder	-	provide loans to the cooperatives and manage plasma areas in return
R.E.A. Holdings plc	Support Program		for a pre-agreed management fee
		-	access to land (through independent smallholder schemes) to
			cultivate oil palm, provide oil palm seedlings, fertilizers, herbicides and technical assistance
	Independent	-	provide regular assistance to independent smallholder cooperatives
	Smallholder Support		through direct visits to smallholdings to provide training and advice
	Program	-	provide training in best agricultural practices to smallholder
			cooperatives

Companies also recognize the significance of jurisdictional programs to support smallholder inclusion in sustainable supply chains, and to achieve their zero-deforestation goals. These programs allow interventions to be tested in a specific jurisdiction, and have the potential to be scaled up to the national level. Ideally, under these programs, governments can accelerate progress by providing the needed policies and laws, making finance available, and facilitating effective land titling and registration while palm oil companies and NGOs provide technical assistance, and financial institutions provide funds to incentivize best practices among smallholders to reduce impacts on forests and other natural ecosystems.<sup>158</sup> For example, the jurisdictional approach in Sabah in Malaysia includes specific goals for mapping smallholder farms, improving their capacity and facilitating smallholder land registration (Table 8).<sup>159</sup> As such, many companies see these programs as a potential approach to reduce some of the supply chain complexities and to improve traceability.<sup>160</sup>

However, these programs are still in their pilot phases and face significant challenges in their implementation. While there are signs of positive progress in the pilot programs being implemented in Indonesia and Malaysia, agreement across diverse stakeholder groups remains a key challenge as there is still nonalignment between government, companies and NGOs.<sup>161</sup> Furthermore, consistent and aligned leadership and coordination among local government authorities is needed. At the moment, local governments depend on national government authorities for guidance and solutions, and hence delaying the implementation of these programs.<sup>162</sup>

There are also concerns whether these programs can all deliver the desired outcomes (including improved conditions for smallholders) and how progress can be monitored and outcomes verified to assure their effective implementation.<sup>163</sup>

#### Table 8 Examples of jurisdictional programs in palm oil section

PROGRAM	OBJECTIVES AND ACTIVITIES
Jurisdictional	The Indonesian Seruyan District is working with several palm oil companies in the district. The
Approach to	companies have signed an agreement with the Government of Seruyan to accelerate the adoption of sustainable farming practices by independent oil palm smallholders in the entire
Certification in	district. It also includes ecological field surveys and spatial modelling is carried for the whole
Seruyan District in	district. By doing so, regulations for flora and fauna conservation can be developed and
Indonesia	eventually lead to a district wide environmental protection plan. <sup>164</sup> Furthermore, a farm mapping
	including farmer registration is performed in collaboration with INOBU, which also provides input, training and access to credits for smallholders.
Sabah Jurisdictional Approach in Malaysia	The Malaysian province of Sabah has committed to have 100 percent of the palm oil produced in Sabah certified as sustainable by 2025 and to declare 30 percent of Sabah's land as a protected area. Activities for this jurisdictional approach include mapping of HCV and HCS forest areas, land use change analyses, plan and operationalize Free, Prior and Informed Consent mechanisms, mapping smallholders' farms and mills, training and capacity building for smallholders and introducing several working groups for monitoring and evaluation. <sup>165</sup> Those stakeholders are organized under the Jurisdictional Certification Steering Committee (JCSC) that include representatives from government, private sector, civil society and smallholder organizations.

4.4

# Implementing zero-deforestation commitments in the cocoa supply chain

Some companies buying cocoa from West Africa have already begun to implement their zero-deforestation commitments. This includes improving the traceability of their supply chains, conducting forest risk assessments to identify where deforestation in likely to occur, and directly engaging with smallholders.

## 4.4.1 Supply chain traceability

Increasingly, cocoa companies map their suppliers and establish traceability systems to trace cocoa to a specific location. This helps companies ascertain that their suppliers comply with their policies and to determine the nature of issues they need to address in their supply chains. However, even where companies trace cocoa from smallholder farms to the point of purchase (e.g. a cooperative, a licensed buying company), the intermediary could buy from multiple, untraced sources and mix all the cocoa beans.<sup>166</sup> If intermediaries do not have a dedicated traceability system that can document all their sourcing, companies cannot know how much each farmer contributed to the cocoa they buy through this mass-balance system. There is also the risk of 'cocoa laundering': a farmer can purchase beans from other smallholders whose farms are established on cleared forest and sell them as their own deforestation-free cocoa.

Members of the Cocoa and Forest Initiative have pledged to achieve 100 percent cocoa traceability to the farm level.<sup>167</sup> The pledge includes mapping of cocoa farms to ensure cocoa is not sourced from protected forests, and to identify deforestation risks in cocoa production areas. In their initial action plans, companies have agreed to map 569,400 cocoa farms in Côte d'Ivoire and 450,300 farms in Ghana.<sup>168</sup>

Some upstream companies with a large smallholder supplier base in both Côte d'Ivoire and Ghana have begun mapping their suppliers (Table 9). For example, Cargill, Barry Callebaut and Olam have begun to map all their farmers and collected cocoa farm data, including smallholder agricultural practices, farm size and yield, and distance to local infrastructure. This allows these companies to tailor their interventions to the needs of their farmers. Because many companies do not directly source from smallholder data. Olam's traceability system, for example, is used by cooperatives and licensed buying agents to register, record, and manage farmer transactions when they buy cocoa and dispatch it to Olam warehouses. This information is automatically synched to Olam's inventory systems, allowing them to trace the product.<sup>169</sup>

Table 9 Examples of supply chain management approaches; as reported by cocoa companies in their sustainability	
reports	

COMPANY	DEFORESTATION RISK ASSESSMENT, FARM MAPPING AND TRACEABILITY TARGETS	ONGOING ACTIVITIES AND PROGRESS REPORTED	TOOLS USED
Barry Callebaut <sup>170</sup>	<ul> <li>establish a harmonized risk assessment approach for all cocoa farms in Côte d'Ivoire and Ghana</li> <li>achieve 100 % traceability for direct supply chain by the end of 2019</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>mapped 47,182 cocoa farms in direct supply chains in Ghana and Côte d'Ivoire within 25 km from a protected area</li> <li>conducted census interviews with 229,142 cocoa farmers (&gt;75 %), capturing socio-economic and household data</li> </ul>	Satellite imagery combined with farmer census interviews provide key insights into the geographical location, farm size, crops grown, as well as the household composition and income of thousands of cocoa farmers and their farms
Cargill <sup>171</sup>	<ul> <li>conduct deforestation risk assessments in all direct sourcing areas</li> <li>achieve 100 % farmer-to- plant traceability</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>achieved 100 percent traceability from farm to factory for direct suppliers in Ghana</li> <li>mapped &gt; 80,000 of the 120,000 farms in the direct supply chain in Côte d'Ivoire</li> <li>included 57,500 hectares in deforestation risk assessment in Ghana</li> <li>included 187,749 hectares in deforestation risk assessment in Côte d'Ivoire</li> </ul>	GPS-based farm polygon mapping in combination with satellite imagery platforms like Global Forest Watch Pro provide for deforestation risk maps
Mars <sup>172</sup>	Achieve 100 % traceability and farm mapping by 2025	<ul> <li>95 % of cocoa is traceable to a country of origin via Mars' Tier 1 direct suppliers.</li> <li>nearly 40 % of cocoa supply chain can be traced to Tier 2 (farmer group) and 24 % to a Tier 3 (farm level)</li> <li>GPS-mapped 24 % of global cocoa supply chain to farm level in 2019<sup>173</sup></li> </ul>	Used GPS data to map cocoa sources. Publish Tier 1 and Tier 2 suppliers lists and work with them to achieve traceability
Mondelēz International <sup>174</sup>	<ul> <li>map all registered Cocoa Life farms to monitor tree cover loss</li> <li>carry out deforestation risk assessments in all direct sourcing areas by 2022</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>mapped 93,416 farms under the Cocoa Life program: 29,627 in Côte d'Ivoire and 39,653 in Ghana</li> <li>sourced 43 percent of cocoa volume via Cocoa Life</li> </ul>	Satellite imagery solutions like Global Forest Watch to identify potential signs of forest cover loss and risk of deforestation
Nestlé <sup>175</sup>	<ul> <li>achieve 100 % traceability to the cocoa farm by 2019;</li> <li>map all 87,000 farms in Ghana and Côte d'Ivoire;</li> </ul>	- Not reported	A combination of certification, supply chain mapping, satellite imagery, landscape initiatives, and collaboration with direct suppliers

	-	map direct and indirect suppliers			
Olam <sup>176</sup>	-	achieve 100 % traceability by 2020. map all 30,200 supplier farms in Ghana and 117,070 farms across 187 co- operatives in Côte d'Ivoire by 2020	-	has achieved 100 percent traceability of its sustainable cocoa supply chain in Ghana and Côte d'Ivoire mapped 93,303 farmers with 244,165 ha using GPS	GPS-based farm polygon mapping and collection of farm- specific information into the Olam Farmer Information System (OFIS). Based on the platform Global Forest Watch Pro, a Forest Loss Risk Index is developed

Cocoa companies are moving from paper-based to cloud-based supplier mapping and traceability. Direct suppliers, local traders and partner farmer organizations of these companies collect GPS coordinates and household information for each cocoa farm they source from. All this information is centralized in the cloud for companies to use.<sup>177</sup> Companies can combine this information with forest maps to monitor deforestation risks in their sourcing areas. In the downstream supply chain, chocolate manufacturers and retailers map their traders (tier 1 suppliers) and their traders' suppliers (tier 2 suppliers) to know the source of their cocoa supplies and to assess their suppliers against their own policies.

Despite recent advances in farm mapping technologies, companies continue to face challenges. While companies rely on satellite imagery to locate their smallholders' farms in a given area, field-based staff are still needed to physically assess and measure farm boundaries to create accurate maps. This is difficult since cocoa farms are highly fragmented over millions of hectares of land. For example, for Cargill to map all the farms from which they source in Côte d'Ivoire alone, their team of field technicians would have to walk more than 80,000 km of farm boundaries.<sup>178</sup> Unclear smallholder land and tenure documentation, and a lack of clear forest and land use maps add to this challenge. Ongoing policy reforms on land and tree tenure, and efforts to improve forest management and land use planning by Ivorian and Ghanaian governments, will help to address these challenges.

Despite these challenges, leading cocoa companies seem on track to achieve their traceability goals under the CFI, though this will cover a limited number of smallholders. They have mapped significant parcels of smallholder farms in their supply chains in Ghana and Côte d'Ivoire that can help them trace their supplies and identify deforestation-risks. However, if the loopholes that exist in the current traceability systems are not addressed, traceability claims may not always be robust.

## 4.4.2 Forest risk assessments

CFI companies have committed to carrying out deforestation risk assessments throughout their sourcing areas, and to working towards greater alignment of methodologies in 2019.<sup>179</sup> More specifically, since January 2018, companies are conducting farm mapping within their direct supply chain to identify and collect cocoa farm boundary data to ensure cocoa is not being sourced from forest lands, national parks, reserves, or classified forests. However, the interpretation of collected data can be complex and time consuming. To this end, there is a clear need for simple and cost-effective tools for companies to assess their own risk of exposure and to increase their capacity to meet sustainability targets. Olam's Forest Loss Risk Index, for example, involves the GPS mapping of its cocoa supplier network that spans across 650,000 suppliers; a time-consuming and complex data collection process. Olam's farm mapping data is combined with historic deforestation rates, existing forest cover, and

national park boundaries. As a result, Olam can highlight deforestation risk hotspots and assign an individual risk weighting to each supplier.<sup>180</sup>

Risk assessments inform sourcing decisions and compliance systems. Based on the mapping of all farms at risk of sourcing from protected forest areas, companies can stop any purchases from farms that are located within a protected area boundary. Moreover, collected farm data do not only include information on farm location, but also on farm size, soil quality, and productivity, all of which providing the purchasing company with the ability to design tailor-made Farm Business Plans and trainings on good agricultural practices.<sup>181</sup> For example, Nestlé underlines that farm mapping and risk assessments are an essential component not only of the traceability system the company wants to set up, but also for its compliance with anti-deforestation legislation in both Ghana and Côte d'Ivoire.<sup>182</sup> Risk assessments and associated supplier maps can also be useful for retailers such as Marks & Spencer and other members of the Retailer Cocoa Collaboration (RCC) in holding trading partners accountable to their CFI commitments.<sup>r</sup>

Cocoa companies continue to improve their reporting and disclosure on their progress against their sustainability goals but more needs to be done. Many companies now report information like the list of their suppliers, their sourcing regions and locations of their smallholders. They also report their progress in mapping suppliers and in achieving traceability. However, reporting is based on communicating successes only, but not on lessons learned.<sup>183</sup>

## 4.4.3 Smallholder engagement

In the cocoa sector, company policies and programs for smallholder support are largely shaped by industry-wide sustainability efforts. These include the Cocoa Livelihoods Program, Cocoa Action, and most recently the CFI. These function as voluntary umbrella initiatives setting sector-wide sustainability goals (Box 3). These initiatives are developed and managed through the World Cocoa Foundation, a trade organization representing more than one hundred companies.

Seven companies, namely Barry Callebaut, Olam, Cargill, Mondelēz, Hershey, Mars, and Nestlé, are involved in all these initiatives in Côte d'Ivoire and Ghana. Each company has their own individual program to support smallholders, guided by engagement targets within their overall sustainability strategies for traceability, certification and zero-deforestation production (0.

<sup>r</sup> Marks & Spencer was one of the founding members of the RCC. Marks & Spencer (2019). Marks & Spencer Cocoa and Forests Action Plan. <u>https://corporate.marksandspencer.com/documents/plan-a-our-approach/marks-and-spencer-cocoa-and-forests-action-plan-march-2019.pdf</u> Box 3 Sector-wide cocoa sustainability initiatives

Table 10). Smallholder programs cover technical, institutional, financial, and technological aspects but may differ in project targets, timelines, and implementation mechanisms.

The Cocoa Livelihoods Program (CLP) was first establish as CLP I, which ran from 2009 – 2014. CLP II ran from 2014 – 2019 and focused on cocoa productivity and farm resilience as it related to food security. With over USD 70 million in funding and the participation of 15 companies, the CLP I promoted a 'package of training' through Farmer Field Schools on: good agricultural and farm management practices, provision of inputs, and increasing access to improved planting materials. The CLP II was implemented through a matching grant mechanism to 10 World Cocoa Foundation member companies, who worked with government agencies, nongovernmental organizations, civil society, and donor organizations on their programming.

**CocoaAction** started in 2014 to align the industry on issues related to low cocoa productivity and community development, particularly towards education and child labor monitoring. This included a joint industry-wide strategy to confront pests and disease, environmental concerns, market challenges, access to education, child protection, and gender equality. These were implemented through the provision of a "productivity package' and a 'community package'. The strategy also included a microcredit component to help farmers receive crop protection and inorganic fertilizers.

The 2017 **Cocoa and Forests Initiative (CFI)** is a joint public-private partnership between industry and the governments of Côte d'Ivoire and Ghana to collaborate in establishing zero-deforestation supply chains. The CFI focuses on forest protection and restoration, sustainable production and farmer's livelihoods, and community engagement and social inclusion. The CFI aims to end sourcing from protected areas and national parks, and to move towards zero-deforestation supply chains. Unlike CLP and CocoaAction, there is not a recommended 'package' of tools under the program, and member companies are free to pursue implementation strategies as they see fit.

Producers working on the ground with farming communities can directly implement their farmer support programs, while processers and retail companies, such as public-facing chocolate brands, must rely on their suppliers to achieve their supply chain targets. Barry Callebaut, Olam, Cargill, and Mondelez, located upstream in the supply chain, have on-theground programs to support cocoa farmers or farmer groups. These include the Cocoa Horizons program (Barry Callebaut), The Cocoa Compass Strategy (Olam), Cocoa Promise (Cargill) and Cocoa Life (Mondelez). In general, they either work directly with farmers, channel their support through farmer organizations such as cooperatives, or conduct program activities via other value chain or implementation partners such as a NGOs or governmental agencies. Downstream, consumer-facing companies like Hershey, Mars, and Nestlé tend to rely on their supply chain partners or third-party certification of their supply chains to meet their overarching sustainability policy goals. For example, Mars made public a list of their Tier-1 global cocoa suppliers on whom they rely to implement their strategy, which includes Cargill, Olam, and Barry Callebaut.<sup>184</sup> The smallholder engagement strategies of these upstream and downstream companies are outlined Table 10.

### Table 10 Upstream and downstream company smallholder engagement strategies in the cocoa sector

PROGRAM	OBJECTIVES	DELIVERY STRATEGY	STATUS
Unstream			
Olam's Cocoa Compass	By 2030, ensure the 150,000 farmers supplying Olam have achieved a living income and reduced natural capital costs (water, carbon) by 30 %, among others	<ul> <li>training of farmers in Good Agricultural Practices (GAPs), Good Labor Practices, Integrated Pest Management, and Business Capacity Training</li> <li>issue farm development plans</li> <li>provide seedlings, shade trees, fertilizer, personal protective equipment, solar dryers</li> <li>raise awareness on forest protection</li> <li>support to get land tenure</li> <li>provide interest free loans and microfinance</li> <li>provide short, medium, and long-term financing</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Data on progress are not yet available. The Compass builds on Olam's existing sustainability programs such as the Olam Livelihood Charter. The following targets have already been achieved:</li> <li>100 % traceability in Côte d'Ivoire and Ghana</li> <li>USD 136 million paid in sustainability premiums to farmers and farming cooperatives in partnership with customers</li> <li>over 64,000 tailored Farm Development Plans have been issued</li> <li>child labor monitoring and remediation systems cover 95,000 cocoa farmers in Côte d'Ivoire and Ghana</li> </ul>
Cargill's Cocoa Promise	<ul> <li>one million farmers benefit from services and premiums delivered under the program</li> <li>full traceability</li> <li>zero deforestation</li> <li>&gt; 200,000 farmers trained</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>mapping farmers via GPS</li> <li>farmer coaching for development plans, fertilizer application training, pest/disease management, financial management, seedling distribution</li> <li>establishment of Village Savings and Loans Associations</li> <li>child labor prevention through financial training and education to farmers and their communities</li> <li>digital payments through mobile banking</li> <li>Cooperative Management System to centralize inventory information, payment flows and financial operations</li> <li>help professionalize farmer organizations</li> <li>creation of market groups to connect farmers directly with actors in the supply chain</li> <li>provide partner cooperatives in Côte d'Ivoire with commercial loans for trucks</li> </ul>	It is not clear how the programs targeted for West Africa have compared to other regions, or what portion of farmers are covered under the high-level targets in the Cocoa Promise. There are no data on progress of the cocoa-specific commitment of having >200,000 farmers trained.
Mondelēz's Cocoa Life program	By 2025, source 100% of chocolate through Cocoa Life and by 2022, reach 200,000 farmers and one million community members	<ul> <li>seedling distribution</li> <li>coaching/ training on farm development plan on good agricultural practices financial literacy and business management training</li> <li>additional income generating activities</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>reached 43 percent (of the goal of 100 percent of chocolate sourced through Cocoa Life by 2025)</li> <li>reached 40,769 farmers in 676 communities in Côte d'Ivoire; and 38,417 farmers in 447 communities in Ghana</li> </ul>
Downstream			
Hershey's Cocoa for Good	50,518 farmers directly supported	<ul> <li>certification</li> <li>farm mapping</li> <li>invest in alternative means of generating income, such as spices, vegetable farming and snail rearing.</li> </ul>	No publicly available information
Mars	180,000 farmers have certification	- certification	No publicly available information
Nestlé's Cocoa plan	114,000 farmers covered	<ul> <li>best practices training with video follow-ups by lead farmers (but in pilot stage)</li> <li>financial training through farmer business school with Cocoanect</li> </ul>	No publicly available information
Companies offer packages of interventions and services to smallholders and smallholder groups to secure supplies of cocoa beans that meet their standards and policy requirements. These interventions include organizing farmers into groups, and providing training, credit, and farm inputs (e.g. fertilizers, agrochemicals, cocoa seedlings, equipment). Services may be offered either as a predetermined package of support or through a menu of available services to select farmers.<sup>185</sup> For example, under Olam's One Farmer, One Acre program in Ghana, cocoa communities get access to local 'pruning teams' who provide a one-acre pruning demonstration on farms to improve farmers' pruning skills.<sup>186</sup> This direct coaching replaces farmer group training sessions. Similarly, under Barry Callebaut's Cocoa Horizon program, farmers who sign a contract with the program via a farmer group receive two to three years of training that result in farmers developing a Farmer Business Plan. The plan covers cocoa farm rehabilitation, maintenance, soil management, integrated pest and disease management, biodiversity enhancement, and waste management aspects of farming.

Companies also differ in their approach to local communities, farmer groups and organizations. Companies work with local cooperatives and other farmer organizations and may choose to enhance their capacities through conducting trainings-of-trainers and lead farmers who will then provide training to smallholder farmers. The content of these trainings varies and may include good agricultural, environmental and social practices. In Ghana, companies carry out the majority of farmer extension through Ghana Cocobod extension agents and the service package they provide. Working with farmer groups can provide more sustainable access to a supply of cocoa beans in exchange for access to farm inputs and technical and financial resources. Barry Callebaut's Cocoa Horizons program relies on farmer groups that sign a commercial contract with agreed upon volume and premium.<sup>187</sup> Cargill operates a Coop Academy, a professional cooperative educational service that targets cooperative leaders in Côte d'Ivoire and Cameroon. Mondelēz's implementation and programming for technical resources are focused around Community Action Plans that defines the priority areas for action and are the main implementation and delivery mechanism to channel Cocoa Life resources.

Several financial support mechanisms have been tested and implemented by companies to increase farmer income and reduce poverty, but without clear impact. These include village-level saving pots, access to microfinance and Payment for Environmental Services. Companies also provide smallholders with trainings on financial literacy, business planning and management to help them better manage their farms and to diversify their incomes. However, it is not clear how helpful support programs have been in improving smallholder living conditions and removing pressure from forests.<sup>188</sup> Support programs often link production-related targets, such as higher farm productivity, to broader sustainability goals. Increased productivity may be linked to livelihood goals such as providing farmers a living income (e.g. by Olam), lifting farmers out of poverty (e.g. by Barry Callebaut), supporting sustainable cocoa businesses for farmers (e.g. by Mondelēz) or farmer livelihoods and resilience (e.g. by Cargill).

# Progress and challenges

## 5.1

### Companies embrace collaborative and multistakeholder action

Despite the ambition of multi-stakeholder initiatives to align company action, it remains difficult to assess both the effectiveness of individual company programs and the overall impact on smallholders in the sector or in a particular region. This is particularly true for the cocoa sector, where companies pursue a variety of different approaches, use different indicators, and differ in the frequency (or existence) of progress reporting. For example, Nestlé's Cocoa Plan does not fully define its goals per region and does not release an annual report on progress towards reaching program goals. Companies also adopt a diversity of approaches and methods for implementing their programs, complicating efforts to draw comparisons in outcomes. More fundamentally, there is a lack of clarity on the overall scale and scope of the issues addressed by company programs as well as the extent to which these issues impact a company's supply chain. Overall, it is not possible to assess the direct impact of company efforts to eliminate deforestation driven by smallholders from their supply chains.

The implementation of zero-deforestation commitments requires attention, finance, and long-term commitment from companies. The complexity of the palm and cocoa supply chains make implementation of commitments costly and challenging. In many cases, companies with zerodeforestation commitments procure produce through layers of middlemen and processors. Even where companies buy directly from smallholders, the transactions are often one-off purchases rather than embedded in longer contractual relationships. Smallholders are also vulnerable to price and climate shocks and often lack access to training, technology, or finance. Most cocoa and many oil palm smallholders operate at or below the poverty line.

Companies strongly support multi-stakeholder initiatives that define a common framework to implement their zero-deforestation commitments, including the RSPO in palm oil and the CFI in cocoa. Initiatives that define rules for engagement help to organize and target company efforts. They often define the range of tools that companies should employ to reach their zero-deforestation commitment targets, including farm and supply chain mapping, traceability, and the design of smallholder support programs. In doing so, multi-stakeholder initiatives codify a certain theory of change through which company action, and specifically smallholder engagement, will lead to a reduction in, and ultimately an end to, deforestation driven by palm oil and cocoa production. The different theories of changes have distinct advantages and disadvantages. Where the initiatives are very prescriptive and define one common set of rules, like

in palm oil certification, they help to ensure that progress is measurable and comparable within and across companies. However, these rules can also become limiting, in particular where they exclude groups of smallholders, such as independent smallholders in the palm oil sector. In comparison, CFI is more flexible in its approach – at the expense of comparability across company programs and transparency on costs and benefits.

Pre-competitive collaboration at the level of a production landscape may be the only way to achieve consistent impact at scale. Collaboration among companies, as in the CFI, can overcome engagement challenges where supply bases are shared and supply chains inherently

unstable, as is often the case where companies source from independent smallholders. In addition, local partnerships with NGOs and multistakeholder jurisdictional approaches in coordination with local governments, can makes sure that the synergistic knowledge of different implementation partners is used to overcome the knowledge and capacity constraints of each individual partner.

The large majority of companies with zero-deforestation commitments in the palm oil sector relies on third party certification to identify commitment-compliant commodity supply. RSPO and other certification standards requires producers to comply with specific production criteria. While RSPO certification leads to a reduction in deforestation in certified farms, it is difficult to include smallholders – in particular independent smallholders – into certification systems. Those few smallholders who do become certified were often unlikely to cause further deforestation even before they became certified. Certification rarely happens at the forest frontier, concentrating instead in areas with no or very low deforestation.<sup>189</sup>

## Progress in tracing direct suppliers and identifying deforestation risks

There is noticeable progress in supply chain mapping companies in both the palm oil and cocoa supply chains. The identification of supplying mills and farms is a necessary condition for identifying deforestation risks and traceability. To assess potential deforestation risks within the supply base, companies increasingly conduct forest-risk assessments and monitor areas where the deforestation risk is high. Satellite-based tools exist that can help companies detect changes in forest cover within its supply base, project different risk levels, and prioritize highrisk areas for engagement with suppliers and producers.

While companies work towards transparency in their sourcing areas, they still fail to anticipate future risks and emerging forest frontiers, i.e. where operations could move to, and struggle to operate at the landscape level. Farmers that are not in any companies' supply base may deforest and not show up on the company radar before trees bear fruit – after forests on their plot of land have long been cleared.

In palm oil, many companies still use mass-balance and book-andclaim certification, which does not guarantee separation of sustainable and unsustainable palm oil in the supply chain. While companies are working to establish their own traceability and verification systems to track all their supplies down to the farm-level, they still largely depend on RSPO certification and in most cases have mapped only direct suppliers and scheme smallholders. Mapping direct supplier means only a part of the supply base is actually traceable. That being said, companies are increasingly working with others within their supply chains including plantations, growers, middlemen and smallholders, and collect information like names, GPS coordinates, palm oil planted area, certification status, and volume sourced.<sup>19</sup> Companies also work with their supplying mills to identify and prioritize third-party suppliers based on their deforestation-risk, and engage with them to help them reach their own suppliers and smallholders.

However, individual lines of supply in palm and cocoa are often very difficult to map and monitor, and a 'deforestation-free' supply is very difficult to guarantee.<sup>190</sup> An increasing number of companies in palm and cocoa claim 100 percent traceability in their supply chains, but this typically refers only to company-owned mills and corporate scheme smallholders in palm oil, and direct sourcing from smallholders in cocoa. In palm oil, the situation is more difficult when it comes to third-party supplying mills and independent smallholders who are not bound by contracts to an off-taker or a mill. While these smallholders may supply directly to mills, they more often than not supply to intermediaries due to limited accessibility or high transaction costs. As mills compete for fresh fruit bunch supply, and intermediaries compete to increase their market share and to maintain the loyalty of suppliers, they are often unwilling to disclose their sources and business relations.<sup>191</sup> In the cocoa supply chain, traceability is complicated through informal local and larger aggregating traders that mix cocoa from different sources and supply warehouses from which companies buy cocoa.<sup>192</sup> In Côte d'Ivoire, for example, company sustainability programs and certification programs only account for 60 percent of the cocoa sourced.<sup>193</sup> The remainder is indirect purchasing through middlemen with unsure provenance.

## Systemic barriers challenge smallholder engagement

**Successfully engaging high-risk producers remains difficult.** The challenges that come with changing smallholder practices makes the standardization of implementation approaches difficult. As local circumstances vary from case to case, each region and community requires special attention and solutions, which makes the implementation of zero-deforestation commitments cumbersome and costly. Supplier and procurement standards are often adequate tools to eliminate deforestation from a company's supply chain when that company works with large producers. The onus of implementation is thereby passed on to the suppliers. This is not possible when the producers are hundreds of thousands of poor farmers. Some company programs seek to involve independent smallholders, but these interventions remain limited in scale and scope.

**Smallholder engagement can only be sustainable if farmers are lifted out of systemic poverty.** In order to meet sustainability goals, producer support programs have to be designed to achieve a number of related and complementary objectives, including increasing productivity, reducing risks and improving livelihoods at the household level.<sup>194</sup> They also have to be developed in response to farmers' needs and in a participatory manner, and be tailored to farmers' situations, interests, and concerns to increase the perceived economic gains from changing practices. The better a company's knowledge of its own supply chain and its local context – including the

<sup>19</sup> Based on publicly available information of 10 companies who report 100 percent traceability from their mills (see Table 6).

identity, characteristics, and constraints of its suppliers and producers – the more targeted and effective the smallholder engagement programs are.

Companies largely rely on smallholder outreach and inclusion to manage deforestation risks; exclusion of individual smallholders by direct buyer companies is very rare. While companies often exclude larger non-compliant suppliers from their supply chains - whether through a suspend-then-engage or an engage-then-suspend approach - they do not usually use the same tactic on individual smallholders. When smallholders do not comply with agreed rules, companies rely on training and engagement. Exclusion without prior or subsequent direct engagement with all its complications - would lead to disrupted livelihoods for smallholders. This outcome would violate companies' further commitment to ensure inclusion and benefits for smallholder and local communities within their supply base. Exclusion would also further bifurcate markets into 'sustainable' vs. 'unsustainable' streams - where, in effect, uncertified smallholders are excluded on a macro scale. On a more practical note, most smallholders are too many steps removed from the company to be identified and targeted for individual exclusion. Also, it is important to note that in the cocoa smallholder context, there are no commonly agreed spatial and temporal thresholds of forest conversion to implement engagesuspend-exclude principles.

While smallholder engagement programs offer inputs, training and finance, they are often unable to overcome smallholder-specific transition barriers. In both palm oil and cocoa sectors, companies usually offer smallholders packages of services that build their technical and financial capacities to move to sustainable practices. Understandably, these programs have often been designed with the narrow commercial interests of the funding company in mind, namely the interest in securing supply of a specific commodity through targeted technical assistance. It has increasingly become clear, however, that other smallholder constraints like lack of tenure, organization and diversified income need to be addressed for technical access to inputs and trainings to be effective and to yield a supply base that is secure in the long-term. To overcome this short-term bias in technical support programs, companies are increasingly engaging in jurisdictional approaches, cooperating with governments and civil society to address smallholder challenges from multiple angles. However, progress has been limited and these programs face significant challenges in successfully establishing long-term partnerships, including the changing political agenda of the national governments, competing interests of companies, non-governmental organizations, and the government; and the ensuing lack of trust between these entities.<sup>195</sup> While these solutions are promising, it is too early to assess their impact.

Several external factors impact the effectiveness of industry-wide sustainability initiatives, with supportive public policies and law enforcement being a precondition for effective company action. Systemic issues, such as insecure tenure, may reduce a farmer's willingness to make long-term investments in their farms. More generally, many barriers to achieving supply chain sustainability targets may be related to long-entrenched issues with social, political, and historical contexts at the local, national, and international levels. Jurisdictional and landscape approaches to confront deforestation and other sustainability issues seek to address these broader systemic contextual factors. The success of these efforts also depends on the historic relationship of key stakeholders, the socio-political and economic context in which supply chains are embedded, the level of trust between actors and the individual motivations of stakeholders. Generally, jurisdictional action works best where local and regional governments are strong and are able to orchestrate efforts.

Farmer organization is essential to improve resilience and sustainability of smallholders. Organization of smallholders in cooperatives in both palm and cocoa remains low. Where they exist, cooperatives play an important role in provision of extension services to smallholder farmers, and they provide an entry point for corporations that may choose to target their sustainability activities at cooperatives in order to reach a broader range of smallholders. However, cooperatives that export cocoa beans on their own to the international market have also found success and could be much more sustainable in the long-term. In both cocoa and palm oil sectors, organization of farmers in cooperatives is a precondition to receive certification. More crucially, though, cooperative members enter into communities of mutual support, are more able to express their agency through the cooperative's negotiating powers, gain access to finance, reduce transaction costs, and finally, can directly benefit from company sustainability programs. However, establishing cooperatives is challenging and needs to be supported by local organizations; companies can respect and strengthen those efforts, but they cannot lead them.

To capitalize on the benefits of organization, actual and systemic barriers to participation need to be overcome. Cooperatives need to be present, active and open for participation. In the context of a regulated cocoa sector price negotiations need to be liberalized to award farmers the benefits of price negotiation.<sup>196</sup> Currently, land ownership can be a precondition for membership to official farmer organizations and for participation in training activities and is also necessary to apply for credit and for crop diversification.<sup>197</sup>

### Engaging smallholders at scale remains rare

**Company programs remain small in number and limited in scope.** Support programs are often designed to yield very specific outcomes, such as achieving certification, which limits their net impact on reducing deforestation across a landscape. At the same time, capacity building and training programs tend to be complex, with high transaction costs when implemented directly by companies. These dual factors contribute to a limited desire or capacity to scale these efforts. Defining a scalable approach towards implementation of zero-deforestation commitments requires case-specific smallholder engagement, which is difficult or impossible to standardize and implement centrally. This also requires a decentralization of many management decision to allow for the design and implementation of tailored interventions. When implemented in concert with local partners, the costs of customization and scaling these programs can be reduced.

The mainstreaming of smallholder support programs is necessary to initiate a long-term transformation of smallholder practices. The current patchwork of engagement programs that provide training, access to technology and credit is failing to cover smallholders at scale. Companies should adopt smallholder support and engagement programs across the entire scope of their operations. In the palm oil sector, this means an offering to non-scheme smallholders needs to be formulated, including intensified efforts to reach out to third-parties that deliver to company mills. In the cocoa sector, programs need to support diversification of the farming system in a coordinated way to ensure that the whole sourcing area is covered by effective programs. The CFI can play an important role in harmonizing and coordinating efforts.

Companies work in silos, and efforts are often duplicated, reducing the potential of these interventions to achieve impact at scale. For example, in the cocoa sector, the exact number of farmers that receive support under company programs is unclear. An individual farmer can be part of multiple programs and receive support from the government, which makes it difficult to aggregate individual programs reported 'successes' into a sector-wide picture of progress. Most companies do not publish or report on the number of farmers in their direct versus indirect supply numbers, making it difficult to assess the total percentage of farmers receiving these services in a supply chain. For example, progress towards Olam's goal to enable 150,000 farmers in their supplier base to achieve a living income or Mondelēz's goal to support 200,000 farmers cannot be assessed without knowing the total number of farmers that they supply from. Others, like Cargill, provide only global numbers for their targets, which further complicated and obscures their efforts in any individual region.

Across all smallholder systems, the financial support for sustainable production is key. This is particularly true for cocoa in West Africa, where such premiums are even more essential than in palm oil. Whether such financial support comes as a price premium, direct farm support or subsidized credit - or a combination of these instruments - needs to be assessed in the national and regional context. As a necessary, but not sufficient step, companies need to fully commit to paying the newly implemented Living Income Differential which is a fixed premium of \$400 per tonne for all cocoa sourced from the region for the 2020/2021 season and ensure that farmers are receiving the full pay. Additionally, this requires paying premiums for sustainable cocoa and ensuring that the premiums are sufficient and effective in reaching and empowering farmers. Increased income needs to be paired with active efforts to protect and restore forests to avoid the rebound effect of restoration, i.e. encouraging land expansion through increased profitability. In Ghana, there should be additional clarity surrounding climate-smart cocoa production practices in the forthcoming Climate-Smart Cocoa Standard, as well as a regional climate smart cocoa standard that will apply to both Ghana and Côte d'Ivoire. These will help to define and clarify the types of support that companies should be implementing as well as defining how sustainable cocoa could be financially rewarded.

In palm oil, the number of farmers that is included in engagement programs is less ambiguous, but very limited compared to the overall number of smallholders. Only about 18 percent of all farmers are included in engagement programs. Linking smallholder engagement to RSPO certification and the lack of investment in independent smallholders means that only scheme smallholders of the highest performing companies are reached under these support programs. Independent smallholders remain largely outside of these programs. Because of the dispersed locations of these farmers and their lack of land documentation, their informal contractual arrangements with their buyers and a lack of record keeping, companies struggle to engage them. This is further exacerbated by smallholders' lack of willingness to work with companies for fear of diminished marketing opportunities, and a lack of sufficient and effective support by government to enable companies and non-governmental organizations to reach these farmers. Palm oil companies need to go beyond certification to ensure successful inclusion of smallholders in sustainable supply chains. So far, certification remains the main strategy but given that RSPO has struggled to scale among smallholders and its impact on deforestation remains unclear, other strategies need to be developed. More bottom-up programs designed and implemented at the local level are necessary to transform production practices. Top-down approaches to engage smallholders for compliance with sustainability standards does contribute to – but not deliver – the needed change. More direct approaches, including collaborative projects with local government and nongovernment organizations, are needed to reach to smallholders while spreading the costs to more stakeholders. Some companies are testing such approaches, but others need to follow.

### The political economy of the sector matters

National and local buy-in is essential; programs driven by foreign actors alone are likely to fail. This is particularly relevant for the coca sector where current sector-wide cocoa programs are partial to foreign interests. CFI, like previous efforts to improve the social and environmental performance of the cocoa sector, has been initiated and is driven mostly by foreign actors. <sup>198</sup> This begs the question how responsive possible engagement can be to smallholders, and there are concerns that the CFI may not generate the impact that is intended. Unlike many previous initiatives, though, CFI has been initiated with the buy-in and cooperation of the governments of the nations where it is being enacted. The question remains whether the 'foreign interests' who largely initiate sector-wide sustainability efforts will match their commitments with the funding needed to implement them.

To confront volatile price fluctuations for cocoa in international markets, the governments of Côte d'Ivoire and Ghana have sought to implement supply-side policies to provide more stability. Government interventions often suppress incentives to invest in improved cocoa practices. For example, following an oversupply of cocoa in the 2016/2017 season, the government of Côte d'Ivoire – in an effort to keep prices stable and cocoa supply low – took measures to reduce supply, including by banning the distribution of high-yielding seedlings.<sup>199</sup> This ban is still in place as of the end of 2019 and compromises the effectiveness of productivity-enhancing strategies such as distributing improved seedlings. Similarly, the Ghanaian Cocobod ended a program that distributed free fertilizers and pesticides to farmers.<sup>200</sup> The cocoa stock has also been subject to the spread of Cocoa Swollen Shoot Virus, which can significantly reduce the productivity of a hectare if a plot becomes infected.<sup>201</sup>

### Government support and engagement is key

### Companies alone cannot solve the many challenges facing smallholders, making government engagement and support indispensable. Improving productivity of farmers, ensuring legal land tenure, building strong rural communities, and providing proper rights and

benefits to farmers fall under the responsibilities of national, regional, local and customary governments in producer countries. Deforestation cannot be addressed in isolation from these underlying social and economic issues. Private sector interventions to address deforestation can only work if effective regulations and law enforcement by accountable government is present.<sup>202</sup>

**Contextual factors relate to the regulatory, financial, and political environment within a given producer country.** Public policies synergistic with corporate deforestation policies can increase the likelihood that a company will meet its own deforestation-related targets. Moreover, governments can play a critical role in providing incentives for the adoption of sustainable commodity production practices, and encourage industry self-regulation through the threat of stronger regulations.<sup>203</sup> They can endorse and reinforce private sector standards, create or maintain key infrastructure such as for information sharing or law enforcement, and implement safeguards to prevent potentially perverse effects of implementing sustainability standards on small producers.<sup>204</sup> Public policies that change unpredictably, or that are inconsistent across agencies or levels of governance, can in turn, negatively affect the ability of a company to successfully implement its commitments.<sup>205</sup> Even good policies may be poorly implemented where the political will by relevant authorities is lacking.

**Governments are essential in supporting companies in providing incentives and thereby strengthening the business-case for deforestation-free products.** In addition to price premiums, governments could help support smallholders cover compliance costs, for instance through subsidies or favorable financing terms.<sup>206</sup> If a government provides additional disincentives for deforestation, such as financial penalties, or credit restrictions for non-compliant companies or individuals, government actions can have synergistic effects with the policies of private companies.<sup>207</sup> In turn, through policies that are openly contradictory to zerodeforestation commitments – such as the requirement for land leases to be developed via land clearing – governments can also create conflicts for the implementation of corporate sustainability initiatives.<sup>208</sup>

**Governments also play a critical role in helping companies achieve full traceability.** Governments can map independent smallholders and their plantations and enforce regulation on record keeping along the supply chain, including middlemen and local agents. Indonesia already has a regulation in place for smallholders to register their plantation(s); however independent smallholder lands remain largely unregistered due to substantial cost barriers. Regardless, plantation registration alone cannot ensure traceability. Incentives like premium prices, better access to inputs and finance for smallholders beyond certification schemes can encourage traceability.<sup>209</sup>

A lack of documented property boundaries constrains efforts by companies to limit deforestation in their supply chains due to difficulty in linking specific suppliers to land use practices. To this end, governments play a crucial role in resolving tenure issues, for instance through simplifying procedures, recognizing customary rights, and reducing the costs for smallholders to obtain land titles. Since land tenure reforms could also spur deforestation by sparking greater investments in agriculture or fuelling land competition, the clarification of land property rights could also include the recognition of local and customary systems of land and resource tenure where appropriate. This in turn could substantially facilitate the implementation of zero-deforestation commitments.<sup>210</sup>

#### In the end, governments need to invest into sustainable landscapes.

Individual company support that is limited to those smallholders that supply a company's fresh fruit bunches and cocoa beans is unlikely to achieve transformative change. Pre-competitive collaboration at the level of a production landscape may be the only way to achieve consistent impact at scale where supply bases are shared and supply chains inherently unstable, as is often the case where companies source from independent smallholders. Governments – together with local communities, corporations, non-governmental organizations and other local stakeholders – have to develop long-term rural development plans that address social and environmental challenges. 6.1

# Recommendations for companies

Companies should consider taking the actions outlined below to increase the effectiveness of their smallholder engagement.

# Carry out continuous risk assessments, and use these to adapt mitigation strategies

### Companies need to monitor deforestation in their sourcing regions

**regularly.** This is necessary to fully understand the scale and magnitude of the risks in relation to company actions to strategize their supplier engagement interventions. Transparency around company interventions to engage smallholders and more generally on company operations, policies, activities, risks, performance, impacts and other relevant information further allows customers, investors and other stakeholders to track progress and reward companies that are achieving their goals. It also allows peer-to-peer learning within the supply chain and landscape and beyond. Companies may also consider including deforestation in their enterprise risk assessments and should carefully consider not just reputation, but also operational and regulatory risk.

#### Carrying out risk assessments requires that:

- Palm oil companies work with supplier mills and middlemen in the supply chain to identify and map all direct and indirect suppliers and build full traceability back to the plantation level.
- Cocoa companies work with farmer organizations and cooperatives at the community level to map all smallholder producers and build full traceability to the farm level.

It is also important to engage suppliers and middlemen into mapping and tracing efforts. One option to facilitate supplier engagement is to include environmental and social risks assessments and smallholder engagement criteria in purchase agreements to ensure all companies in the downstream supply chain have clear policies to work with smallholder suppliers.

6.2

# Tailor support programs to smallholders' local needs

Smallholder interventions tend to be more successful if they are based on a clear understanding of the local context, consider smallholder needs and constraints and follow clear theories of change for action. Building trust and dialogue with smallholders and local communities is essential and entails clear communication of the company's ambitions and expectations and to develop inclusive strategies that respond to communities' needs. Coherent strategies that link activities to explicit outcomes, and are backed by previous research and/or experiences for success on the various activities, help to improve the effectiveness of programs.

Effective engagement of smallholders may also require a reorganization of companies and new processes. Decentralized decisionmaking processes help companies to consider the local circumstances that influence smallholder behavior in their outreach and engagement programs.

Companies should also consider institutional and organizational support as a prominent part of smallholder interventions, alongside technical and financial support. Creating and supporting farmer organizations and cooperatives offers better opportunities to develop economies of scale.

**Learning and adaptation is also key**. Companies need to monitor and evaluate their interventions on a regular basis to understand how they can improve their effectiveness and impact.

### **Devise innovative financing solutions**

It is essential to define comprehensive financing packages and work towards lifting smallholders out of poverty. Smallholders face several obstacles in accessing finance to invest in their farms, including lack of land documentation and resources to repay loans before harvest season. Companies can collaborate with non-governmental organizations and finance institutions to improve their management practices to provide technical and organizational support to these local organizations to digitize their processes and build trust for them among the farmers.

**Companies and governments could also work directly with finance institutions to build the investment case for financing smallholders.** They can gather and give information about the financial needs of smallholders to finance institutions to build tailored financial services. Community-level finance mechanisms like Village Savings and Loan Associations can provide good vehicles to ensure farmer access to finance for planting and farm rehabilitation activities. In Côte d'Ivoire and Ghana, the Living Income Differential as a minimum price for cocoa can help to alleviate poverty among cocoa farmers. Cocoa companies need to commit to this.

## Build long-term partnerships to improve the sustainability of interventions

Companies need to build long-term partnerships with farmers and communities to deliver more reliable, sustainable solutions for social and economic development at the level of communities and landscapes. Such a partnership approach needs to be integrated into a long-term business strategy of companies through, for example, longer term purchase agreements with farmers and farmer organizations. This needs to include involvement and consultation with smallholders and communities in planning and implementation to create acceptance, ownership and longterm sustainability. Smallholder interventions need to build and support local institutions and capacity that can sustain the achievements of interventions beyond their life-cycle.

# Cooperating with stakeholders at all levels is essential to scale efforts

Cooperation among stakeholders at a landscape or jurisdictional level is crucial to address smallholder challenges beyond direct suppliers to achieve sustainability at a meaningful scale. It is important to move toward collaborative processes and jurisdictional programs to improve, link and scale independent programs. Such collaboration among companies, governments and civil society organizations can help to mobilize and share knowledge, expertise, technology and financial resources.

**Companies can work with governments to define jurisdictional and landscape programs**. Most jurisdictional programs are still in their infancy and remain poorly defined. Companies can work with government agencies to elaborate programs based on lessons learned and best practices. Collaborative programs help to ensure coordination and synergistic interventions of private and public actors. In this context, companies can also collectively push for stronger laws and enforcement, as well as sectorwide capacity building in order to drive sector transformation across entire regions and create a level playing field for all companies involved.

# Endnotes

<sup>1</sup> Song, X.-P., Hansen, M. C., Stehman, S. V., Potapov, P. V., Tyukavina, A., Vermote, E. F., et al. (2018). Global land change from 1982 to 2016. *Nature*, *560*(7720), 639–643.

<sup>2</sup> Palm oil caused a loss of 0.4 million hectares of forests every year during the 2005-14 period on average. Pendrill, F., Persson, U. M., Godar, J., & Kastner, T. (2019). Deforestation displaced: trade in forest-risk commodities and the prospects for a global forest transition. *Environmental Research Letters*, *14*(5), 055003.

<sup>3</sup> Palm Oil Industry in Indonesia - CPO Production & Export | Indonesia Investments. (n.d.). https://www.indonesia-investments.com/business/commodities/palm-oil/item166?

<sup>4</sup> Weisse, M., & Dow Goldman, E. (2019). The World Lost a Belgium-sized Area of Primary Rainforests Last Year. World Resources Institute. https://bit.ly/2GwEWN1. Primary Forest Loss in Indonesia, 2002-18.

<sup>5</sup> Wessel, M., & Quist-Wessel, P. M. F. (2015). Cocoa production in West Africa, a review and analysis of recent developments. NJAS - Wageningen Journal of Life Sciences, 74–75, 1–7.

http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1573521415000160.

<sup>6</sup> Ordway, E. M., Asner, G. P., & Lambin, E. F. (2017). Deforestation risk due to commodity crop expansion in sub-Saharan Africa. Environmental Research Letters, 12(4), 044015. https://doi.org/10.1088%2F1748-9326%2Faa6509.

<sup>7</sup> Republique de Côte d'Ivoire Ministere de l'Environnement et du Developpement Durable. (2016). Analyse qualitative des facteurs de déforestation et de dégradation des forêts en Côte d'Ivoire: Rapport final.

https://www.nitidae.org/files/b24e760c/161216081210\_161214\_analyse\_facteurs\_de f\_deg\_ci\_rapport\_final.pdf.

<sup>8</sup> Weisse, M., & Dow Goldman, E. (2019). It is important to note that not all of that deforestation is driven by cocoa. A significant percentage can be attributed to timber extraction, illegal gold mining, among others.

<sup>9</sup> Gockowski, J., & Sonwa, D. (2011). Cocoa Intensification Scenarios and Their Predicted Impact on CO 2 Emissions, Biodiversity Conservation, and Rural Livelihoods in the Guinea Rain Forest of West Africa. Environmental Management, 48, 307–321. https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007%2Fs00267-010-9602-3.

<sup>10</sup> Lyons-White, J., & Knight, A. T. (2018). Palm oil supply chain complexity impedes implementation of corporate no-deforestation commitments. Global Environmental Change, 50, 303–313. http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0959378017310117.

<sup>11</sup> Garrett, R., Rueda, X., Levy, S., Bermudez Blanco, J. F., & Shah, S. (2018). Measuring Impacts of Supply Chain Initiatives for Conservation: Focus on Forest-Risk Food Commodities. https://docs.merid.org/SITECORE\_DOCS/Measuring%20Impacts%20of%20Supply %20Chain%20Initiatives%20for%20Conservation.pdf.

<sup>12</sup> Carbon Disclosure Project. Retrieved from https://www.cdp.net/en.

<sup>13</sup> CDP. (2019). THE MONEY TREES: The role of corporate action in the fight against deforestation. https://6fefcbb86e61af1b2fc4-

c70d8ead6ced550b4d987d7c03fcdd1d.ssl.cf3.rackcdn.com/cms/reports/documents/ 000/004/653/original/CDP\_Global\_Forests\_Report\_2019.pdf?1563202981.

<sup>14</sup> WWF, & ZSL. (2019). Committed to Sustainable Palm Oil? Analysis of 2018 Acop Reporting by Rspo Member Companies.

http://awsassets.panda.org/downloads/wwf\_sustainable\_palmoil\_summary\_05\_singl epage.pdf.

<sup>15</sup> Accountability Framework website. Retrieved from https://accountability-framework.org

<sup>16</sup> DJP 2015 via Jelsma, I., Schoneveld, G. C., Zoomers, A., & Van Westen, A. C. M. (2017). Unpacking Indonesia's independent oil palm smallholders: An actor-disaggregated approach to identifying environmental and social performance challenges. *Land Use Policy*, *69*, 281–297.

<sup>17</sup> ICCO. (2007). Sustainable Cocoa Economy: A Comprehensive and Participatory Approach. Consultative Board on the World Cocoa Economy. Presented at the Twelth meeting, Kuala Lumpur. https://www.icco.org/about-us/international-cocoa-agreements/cat\_view/30-related-documents/32-consultative-board-on-the-world-cocoa-economy.html.

<sup>18</sup> Austin, K., Schwantes, A., & Kasibhatla, P. S. (2019). What causes deforestation in Indonesia? *Environmental Research Letters*, *14*(2). Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/aaf6db.

<sup>19</sup> Austin, K. et al. (2019).

<sup>20</sup> Lyons-White, J., & Knight, A. T. (2018). Palm oil supply chain complexity impedes implementation of corporate no-deforestation commitments. *Global Environmental Change*, *50*, 303–313. Retrieved October 1, 2019, from http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0959378017310117.

<sup>21</sup> Lambin, E. F., Gibbs, H. K., Heilmayr, R., Carlson, K. M., Fleck, L. C., Garrett, R. D., et al. (2018). The role of supply-chain initiatives in reducing deforestation. *Nature Climate Change*, *8*(2), 109. Retrieved July 29, 2019, from https://www.nature.com/articles/s41558-017-0061-1.

<sup>22</sup> Lambin, E. F., & Thorlakson, T. (2018). Sustainability standards: Interactions between private actors, civil society, and governments. *Annual Review of Environment and Resources*, *43*, 369–393.

<sup>23</sup> Weisse, M., & Dow Goldman, E. (2019). The World Lost a Belgium-sized Area of Primary Rainforests Last Year. *World Resources Institute*. Retrieved October 24, 2019, from https://bit.ly/2GwEWN1.

<sup>24</sup> Carlson, K. M., Heilmayr, R., Gibbs, H. K., Noojipady, P., Burns, D. N., Morton, D. C., et al. (2018). Effect of oil palm sustainability certification on deforestation and fire in Indonesia. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 115(1), 121–126. http://www.pnas.org/lookup/doi/10.1073/pnas.1704728114.

<sup>25</sup> USDA Foreign Agricultural Service. (2020). Vegetable Oil Prices on an Upward Trend. Oilseeds: World Markets and Trade. https://apps.fas.usda.gov/psdonline/circulars/oilseeds.pdf.

<sup>26</sup> Jakarta Globe. (2019, January 14). Palm Oil Continues to Makes Significant Contribution to Indonesian Economy: Gapki. Jakarta Globe. https://jakartaglobe.id/business/palm-oil-continues-to-makes-significant-contributionto-indonesian-economy-gapki.

<sup>27</sup> Lyons-White, J., & Knight, A. T. (2018). Palm oil supply chain complexity impedes implementation of corporate no-deforestation commitments. Global Environmental Change, 50, 303–313. http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0959378017310117.

<sup>28</sup> Pacheco, P., Gnych, S., Dermawan, A., Komarudin, H., & Okarda, B. (2017). The Palm Oil Global Value Chain: Implications for Economic Growth and Socialand Environmental Sustainability. http://www.cifor.org/library/6405/the-palm-oil-globalvalue-chain-implications-for-economic-growth-and-socialand-environmentalsustainability/.

<sup>29</sup> Pacheco, P. et al. (2017).

<sup>30</sup> Schleicher, T., Hilbert, I., Manhart, A., Hennenberg, K., Ernah, Dr., Vidya, S., et al. (2019). *Production of Palm Oil in Indonesia, Country-focused commodity analysis in the context of the Bio-Macht project*. Retrieved from https://www.oeko.de/fileadmin/oekodoc/BioMacht-palm-oil-report.pdf.

<sup>31</sup> DJP. (2017). Statistik Perkebunan Indonesia, Kelapa Sawit 2015–2017. Retrieved January 3, 2020, from

https://drive.google.com/file/d/1lvOb3Y2IhU5WS06jBI5A1NJrsDH6Ny27/

<sup>32</sup> Schoneveld, G. C., Ekowati, D., Andrianto, A., & van der Haar, S. (2018). Modeling peat-and forestland conversion by oil palm smallholders in Indonesian Borneo. *Environmental Research Letters*.

<sup>33</sup> Euler, M., Hoffmann, M. P., Fathoni, Z., & Schwarze, S. (2016). Exploring yield gaps in smallholder oil palm production systems in eastern Sumatra, Indonesia. Agricultural Systems, 146, 111–119.

http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0308521X16300920; Johnston, D., Smit, H. H., Bronkhorst, E., van Dorth tot Medler, M. M., Adjaffon, I., & Cavallo, E. (2018). Innovative replanting financing models for oil palm smallholder farmers in Indonesia. Tropical Forest Alliance, 2020.

<sup>34</sup> MPOB. (2016). Oil Palm Planted Area 2016. Malaysian Palm Oil Board. http://bepi.mpob.gov.my/index.php/en/statistics/area/176-area-2016/790-oil-palmplanted-abrea-as-at-dec-2016.html.

<sup>35</sup> Malaysia Palm Oil Certification Council (2019). Palm oil certified areas. https://www.mpocc.org.my/mspo-certification

<sup>36</sup> Cramb, R. A., McCarthy, J. F., & NUS Press (Eds.). (2015). *The oil palm complex: smallholders, agribusiness, and the state in Indonesia and Malaysia.* 

<sup>37</sup> Euler, M. et al. (2016).

<sup>38</sup> Cahyadi, E. R., & Waibel, H. (2016). Contract Farming and Vulnerability to Poverty among Oil Palm Smallholders in Indonesia. The Journal of Development Studies, 52(5), 681–695. https://doi.org/10.1080/00220388.2015.1098627.

<sup>39</sup> Cahyadi, E. R., & Waibel, H. (2016).

<sup>40</sup> Asian Agri. (2018, May 25). Indonesia's Plasma Farmer Scheme Explained. Asian Agri. https://www.asianagri.com/en/media-en/articles/indonesia-s-plasma-farmer-scheme-explained.

<sup>41</sup> Brandi, C., Cabani, T., Hosang, C., Schirmbeck, S., Westermann, L., & Wiese, H. (2015). Sustainability Standards for Palm Oil: Challenges for Smallholder Certification Under the RSPO. The Journal of Environment & Development, 24(3), 292–314. http://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.1177/1070496515593775.

<sup>42</sup> Nagiah, C., & Azmi, R. (2013). A review of smallholder oil palm production: challenges and opportunities for enhancing sustainability-a Malaysian perspective. *Journal of Oil Palm, Environment and Health (JOPEH)*, 3.

<sup>43</sup> FELDA. (2019, April 10). Kertas Putih, Ke Arah Kelestarian Lembaga Kemajuan Tanah Persekutuan (FELDA). https://www.felda.gov.my/umum/felda/kertas-putihfelda.

44 Brandi, C. et al. (2015).

<sup>45</sup> Brandi, C. et al. (2015).

<sup>46</sup> Jelsma, I., Schoneveld, G. C., Zoomers, A., & van Westen, A. C. M. (2017). Unpacking Indonesia's independent oil palm smallholders: An actor-disaggregated approach to identifying environmental and social performance challenges. *Land Use Policy*, 69, 281–297.

<sup>47</sup> Jelsma, I., Woittiez, L. S., Ollivier, J., & Dharmawan, A. H. (2019). Do wealthy farmers implement better agricultural practices? An assessment of implementation of Good Agricultural Practices among different types of independent oil palm smallholders in Riau, Indonesia. Agricultural Systems, 170, 63–76.; Hutabarat, S., Slingerland, M., & Dries, L. (2019). Explaining the "Certification Gap" for Different Types of Oil Palm Smallholders in Riau Province, Indonesia: The Journal of Environment & Development. Retrieved October 23, 2019, from https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/full/10.1177/1070496519854505; Rival, A., Montet, D., & Pioch, D. (2016). Certification, labelling and traceability of palm oil: can we build confidence from trustworthy standards? OCL, 23(6), D609. https://www.ocl-

journal.org/articles/ocl/abs/2016/06/ocl160042s/ocl160042s.html; Ruysschaert, D. (2016). The Impact of Global Palm Oil Certification on Transnational Governance, Human Livelihoods and Biodiversity Conservation. POLICY MATTERS 2016: CERTIFICATION AND BIODIVERSITY.

<sup>48</sup> Glenday, S., & Paoli, G. (2015). *Indonesian Oil Palm Smallholder Farmers: A Typology of Organizational Models, Needs, and Investment Opportunities.* 

<sup>49</sup> Glenday, S., & Paoli, G. (2015).

<sup>50</sup> Jelsma, I. et al. (2019); Bronkhorst, E., Cavallo, E., van Dorth tot Medler, M.-M., Klinghammer, S., Smit, H. H., Gijsenbergh, A., et al. (2017). Current practices and innovations in smallholder palm oil finance in Indonesia and Malaysia: Long-term financing solutions to provide statianable supply chains.

https://www.cifor.org/library/6612/current-practices-and-innovations-in-smallholderpalm-oil-finance-in-indonesia-and-malaysia-long-term-financing-solutions-topromote-sustainable-supply-chains-2/.

<sup>51</sup> Baubach, T. (June 26, 2019). Do smallholders hold the key to sustainable palm oil? Eco-Business. At https://www.eco-business.com/news/do-smallholders-hold-the-key-to-sustainable-palm-oil/

<sup>52</sup> Bronkhorst, E. et al. (2017).

<sup>53</sup> Wessel, M., & Quist-Wessel, P. M. F. (2015).

54 ICCO Quarterly Bulletin of Cocoa Statistics, Vol. XLV, No.3, Cocoa year 2018/19 (International Cocoa Organization) https://www.icco.org/about-us/icco-news/408-may-2019-quarterly-bulletin-of-cocoa-statistics.html

<sup>55</sup> Growth Lab at Harvard University. (2019). What Did Ghana Export in 2017? The Atlas of Economic Complexity.

http://atlas.cid.harvard.edu/explore?country=83&product=undefined&year=2017&pro ductClass=HS&target=Product&partner=undefined&startYear=undefined; Ghana Statistical Service. (2019). Statistics for Development and Progress, Rebased 2013-2018 Annual Gross Domestic Product. 11.

<sup>56</sup> Growth Lab at Harvard University. (2019). The World Bank. (2019). Au Pays Du Cacao, Comment Transformer La Côte D'ivoire. http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/en/277191561741906355/pdf/Côte-dIvoire-Economic-Update.pdf.

<sup>57</sup> Growth Lab at Harvard University. (2019). The World Bank. (2019). Au Pays Du Cacao, Comment Transformer La Côte D'ivoire. http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/en/277191561741906355/pdf/Côte-dIvoire-Economic-Update.pdf.

<sup>58</sup> Growth Lab at Harvard University. (2019). What Did Ghana Export in 2017? The Atlas of Economic Complexity.

http://atlas.cid.harvard.edu/explore?country=83&product=undefined&year=2017&pro ductClass=HS&target=Product&partner=undefined&startYear=undefined; Ghana Statistical Service. (2019). Statistics for Development and Progress, Rebased 2013-2018 Annual Gross Domestic Product. 11.

<sup>59</sup> The Economist. (2018, November 17). Cocoa processing is not a golden ticket for west Africa - Sweet dreams. https://www.economist.com/middle-east-and-africa/2018/11/17/cocoa-processing-is-not-a-golden-ticket-for-west-africa.

<sup>60</sup> Oomes, N., Tieben, B., Laven, A., Ammerlaan, T., Appelman, R., Biesenbeek, C., et al. (2016). *Market Concentration and Price Formation in the Global Cocoa Value Chain*.

<sup>61</sup> Fountain, A., & Huetz-Adam, F. (2015). Cocoa Barometer.

62 Wessel, M., & Quist-Wessel, P. M. F. (2015).

<sup>63</sup> Oomes, N. et al. (2016).

<sup>64</sup> In Oomes, N. et al. (2016), Appendix A: Country Case Studies in Market Concentration and Price Formation in the Global Cocoa Value Chain <sup>65</sup> Rainforest Alliance (2013). Investing in Sustainability and Productivity Improvements to Transform Cocoa Production and Livelihoods in Côte d'Ivoire. http://www.rainforest-alliance.org/sites/default/files/2016-08/sustainablity-cocoaproduction-Côte-divoire.pdf

<sup>66</sup> ETH (2016). Assessing the resilience of the cocoa value chain in Ghana. https://www.ethz.ch/content/dam/ethz/special-interest/usys/ias/enhancing-resiliencedam/documents/Final%20Report.%20Cocoa%20in%20Ghana.pdf

<sup>67</sup> Ghana – CORIP (Cocoa Rehabilitation and Intensification Program)

<sup>68</sup> Aidenvironment, NewForesight, & IIED (2015). Case Study Report: Cocoa in Côte d'Ivoire; Kroeger, A., Bakhtary, H., Haupt, F., & Streck, C. (2017). Eliminating deforestation from the cocoa supply chain; Reuters. (2016, November 22). Ivory Coast includes Nestle in new cocoa, coffee export licences. Reuters. https://www.reuters.com/article/ivorycoast-cocoa-exporters-idUSL8N1DN54W.

<sup>69</sup> Kolavalli, S., M. Vigneri, H. Maamah, and J. Poku. 2012. "The Partially Liberalized Cocoa Sector in Ghana: Producer Price Determination, Quality Control, and Service Provision." IFPRI Discussion Paper 01213. Washington, DC: Ghana Strategy Support Program, International Food Policy Research Institute (IFPRI).

<sup>70</sup> GEFAK. (2015). Study on the state of farmer cooperatives in the cocoa sector of Côte d'Ivoire: Draft final report. https://www.kakaoforum.de/fileadmin/Redaktion/Studien/GISCO\_COOP\_Report\_CE

<sup>71</sup> Bymolt, R., Laven, A., & Tyszler, M. (2018c). Demystifying the cocoa sector in Ghana and Côte d'Ivoire: Chapter 9: Cocoa producer groups, certification, training and credit. https://www.kit.nl/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/Demystifying-cocoa-sector-chapter9-cocoa-producer-groups-certification-training-and-credit.pdf.

<sup>72</sup> Aidenvironment, NewForesight, & IIED (2015).

FAK final.pdf.

<sup>73</sup> Baah, F., & Anchirinah, V. (2011). Looking for convergence: Stakeholders' perceptions of cocoa extension constraints in Ghana. Journal of Science and Technology (Ghana), 30(3). http://www.ajol.info/index.php/just/article/view/64626.

<sup>74</sup> Laven, A., & Boomsma, M. (2012). Incentives for sustainable cocoa production in Ghana. 49.

<sup>75</sup> Asibey-Bonsu, P. (2012). *Farmer's organizations in West and Central Africa: high expectations, hard realities. Ghana Country report.* 

<sup>76</sup> Okoffo, E. D., Denkyirah, E. K., Adu, D. T., & Fosu-Mensah, B. Y. (2016). A double-hurdle model estimation of cocoa farmers' willingness to pay for crop insurance in Ghana. SpringerPlus, 5(1), 873. http://doi.org/10.1186/s40064-016-2561-2

<sup>77</sup> Wessel, M., & Quist-Wessel, P. M. F. (2015).

<sup>78</sup> Bymolt, R. et al. (2018). Chapter 10, Production and yield.

<sup>79</sup> Garrett, R. D., Levy, S., Carlson, K. M., Gardner, T. A., Godar, J., Clapp, J., et al. (2019). Criteria for effective zero-deforestation commitments. Global Environmental Change, 54, 135–147. https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0959378018306654.

<sup>80</sup> Garrett, R., Rueda, X., Levy, S., Bermudez Blanco, J. F., & Shah, S. (2018). *Measuring Impacts of Supply Chain Initiatives for Conservation: Focus on Forest-Risk Food Commodities*. Retrieved from https://docs.merid.org/SITECORE\_DOCS/Measuring%20Impacts%20of%20Supply %20Chain%20Initiatives%20for%20Conservation.pdf.

<sup>81</sup> Proforest. (2017). Responsible sourcing in practice: supplier engagement. Proforest Responsible Sourcing and Production Briefings (No. 08). https://proforest.net/en/publications/responsible-sourcing-and-productionbriefings/responsible-sourcing-in-practice-supplier-engagement <sup>82</sup> Proforest. (2016). Geospatial risk assessment and 'no deforestation' commitments. Proforest Responsible Sourcing and Production Briefings (No. 06). https://www.proforest.net/proforest/en/publications/responsible-sourcing-and-production-briefings/bn06\_rspb\_web.pdf.

<sup>83</sup> Bronkhorst, E., Cavallo, E., van Dorth tot Medler, M.-M., Klinghammer, S., Smit, H. H., Gijsenbergh, A., et al. (2017). Current practices and innovations in smallholder palm oil finance in Indonesia and Malaysia: Long-term financing solutions to promote sustainable supply chains. https://www.cifor.org/library/6612/current-practices-and-innovations-in-smallholder-palm-oil-finance-in-indonesia-and-malaysia-long-term-financing-solutions-to-promote-sustainable-supply-chains-2/.

<sup>84</sup> Global Forest Watch Pro by WRI available at https://pro.globalforestwatch.org/

<sup>85</sup> Tropical Forest Alliance website, https://www.tfa2020.org/en/

<sup>86</sup> Consumer Goods Forum. (2020). Deforestation: Mobilising resources to help achieve zero net deforestation by 2020. https://www.theconsumergoodsforum.com/initiatives/environmentalsustainability/key-projects/deforestation/.

<sup>87</sup> World Cocoa Foundation. (2018, August 27). Cocoa & Forests Initiative. *World Cocoa Foundation*. Retrieved January 3, 2020, from https://www.worldcocoafoundation.org/initiative/cocoa-forests-initiative/.

<sup>88</sup> Wilmar International Limited. (2013). No Deforestation, No Peat, No Exploitation Policy. from https://www.wilmar-international.com/docs/default-source/default-document-library/sustainability/resource/no-deforestation-no-peat-no-exploitation-policy.pdf?sfvrsn=e09ab362\_2.

<sup>89</sup> PepsiCo. (2018). Global Policy on Sustainable Palm Oil. https://www.pepsico.com/docs/album/esg-topics-policies/global-policy-forsustainable-palm-oil.pdf.

<sup>90</sup> Cargill. (2019b). Cargill Policy on Sustainable Palm Oil. https://www.cargill.com/doc/1432076149492/palm-oil-policy-statement-pdf.pdf.

<sup>91</sup> Unilever. (2016). Unilever Sustainable Palm Oil Sourcing Policy. https://www.unilever.com/Images/unilever-palm-oil-policy-2016\_tcm244-479933\_en.pdf.

<sup>92</sup> Nestlé Global. (2018, July 16). RSPO reinstates Nestlé's membership. https://www.nestle.com/media/pressreleases/allpressreleases/rspo-reinstatesnestle-membership.

<sup>93</sup> Hershey. (2012, October 3). Hershey to Source 100% Certified Cocoa by 2020. https://www.thehersheycompany.com/content/dam/corporateus/documents/legal/source-100-certified-cocoa-2020.pdf.

<sup>94</sup> Proforest. (2018, November 27). Supply chain traceability with the Universal Mill List — Home. https://www.proforest.net/en/news/supply-chain-traceability-with-the-universal-mill-list.

<sup>95</sup> Barry Callebaut. (2019, April 16). Barry Callebaut establishes traceability for a third of its global cocoa volume. https://www.barry-callebaut.com/en/group/media/news-stories/barry-callebaut-establishes-traceability-third-its-global-cocoa-volume.

<sup>96</sup> Olam. (2019, March 8). Olam Cocoa strengthens its commitment. https://www.olamgroup.com/news/all-news/press-release/olam-cocoa-strengthensits-commitment.html.

<sup>97</sup> Global Forest Watch Pro website, https://pro.globalforestwatch.org

<sup>98</sup> Taylor, M. (2019, June 11). Top food firms spot supply-chain risks to forests in real time. Reuters. https://www.reuters.com/article/us-global-commoditiesdeforestation/top-food-firms-spot-supply-chain-risks-to-forests-in-real-timeidUSKCN1TC11Q. <sup>99</sup> PepsiCo. (2019). Palm Oil Traceability Protocol. https://www.pepsico.com/docs/album/esg-topics-policies/pepsico-palm-oiltraceability-protocol-(1).pdf.

<sup>100</sup> Musim Mas (2019). Smallholders. https://www.musimmas.com/sustainability/smallholders#\_ptoh\_3025176

<sup>101</sup> Mondelez International (2019). Environmental Footprint. https://www.Mondelēzinternational.com/impact/sustainable-resources-andagriculture/environmental-footprint

<sup>102</sup> Unilever. (2018, February 16). Taking a radical step on palm oil supply chain transparency. https://www.unilever.com/news/news-and-features/Feature-article/2018/we-take-a-radical-step-on-palm-oil-supply-chain-transparency.html.

<sup>103</sup> Sherred, K. (2019, August 9). Ferrero shares list of 2018 palm oil suppliers in transparency commitment. Confectionary News. https://www.confectionerynews.com/Article/2019/08/09/Ferrero-shares-list-of-2018palm-oil-suppliers-in-transparency-commitment.

<sup>104</sup> Cocoa Life website, https://www.cocoalife.org

<sup>105</sup> COFCO International. (2017). Supplier Code of Conduct and commodity specific policies.

https://www.cofcointernational.com/media/1035/supplier\_code\_of\_conduct\_and\_commodity\_specific\_policies.pdf.

<sup>106</sup> Mondelēz International, Inc. (2019). Palm Oil. https://www.mondelezinternational.com/Snacking-Made-Right/ESG-Topics/Palm-Oil.

<sup>107</sup> Cocoa Life website, https://www.cocoalife.org

<sup>108</sup> Earthworm. (2019). Nestlé.

<sup>109</sup> Brown, E., & Senior, M. J. M. (2018). Common Guidance for the Management and Monitoring of High Conservation Values: A Good Practice Guide for the Adaptive Management of HCVs. https://hcvnetwork.org/library/common-guidancefor-the-management-and-monitoring-of-hcv/.

<sup>110</sup> Musim Mas. (2017). Building trust with smallholders. Sustainability Journal. https://www.musimmas.com/news/sustainability-journal/2017/building-trust-withsmallholders; Musim Mas. (2019b). NDPE Roadmap. https://www.musimmas.com/sustainability/ndpe-roadmap; Musim Mas. (2019a). Creating a Sustainable Supply Chain, Sustainability Report 2017; Interview with Musim Mas representative, October 2019.

<sup>111</sup> van Houten, H., & de Koning, P. (2018). *Jurisdictional Approaches for Deforestation-free and Sustainable Palm Oil on Borneo*.

<sup>112</sup> Oomes, N. et al. (2016).

<sup>113</sup> Proforest. (2015). Responsible sourcing practical guide [Practical Guide]. https://www.proforest.net/en/files/responsible\_sourcing\_practical\_guide\_online\_versi on.pdf.

<sup>114</sup> Gradl, C., Kükenshöner, C., Schmidt, J., & Ströh de Martínez, C. (2012). *Growing Business with Smallholders: A Guide to Inclusive Agribusiness*.

<sup>115</sup> Jelsma, I., Schoneveld, G. C., Zoomers, A., & Van Westen, A. C. M. (2017). Unpacking Indonesia's independent oil palm smallholders: An actor-disaggregated approach to identifying environmental and social performance challenges. *Land Use Policy*, 69, 281–297.

<sup>116</sup> Gradl, C. et al. (2012).

<sup>117</sup> Jong, H. N. (2018, June 8). In pursuit of traceability, palm oil giant tests GPSbased solution. Mongabay Series: Indonesian Palm Oil. https://news.mongabay.com/2018/06/in-pursuit-of-traceability-palm-oil-giant-testsgps-based-solution/.

<sup>118</sup> Lyons-White, J., & Knight, A. T. (2018).

<sup>119</sup> Widyapratami, H., & Bagja, B. (2018, March 6). Achieving Palm Oil Traceability in Indonesia's Complex Supply Chain. Blog. https://wriindonesia.org/en/blog/achieving-palm-oil-traceability-indonesia%E2%80%99scomplex-supply-chain.

<sup>120</sup> GAR (December 18, 2019). Sustainability. Traceability. https://goldenagri.com.sg/sustainability/supply-chain/traceability/

<sup>121</sup> Wilmar International (2019). Traceability. https://www.wilmarinternational.com/sustainability/traceab

<sup>122</sup> Eyes on the Forest (2018). Investigative Report: Enough is Enough. http://eyesontheforest.or.id/reports/investigative-report-enough-is-enough-jun-2018

<sup>123</sup> Lee, Y. J., & Bateman, A. H. (2019). Corporate Supply Chain Disclosures and Factors Determining the Disclosure Approaches: A Palm Oil Case Study (No. SCALE Working Paper Series) (No. SCALE Working Paper Series). https://dspace.mit.edu/handle/1721.1/122668.

<sup>124</sup> RSPO (2019). Smallholders: RSPO Smallholders. https://rspo.org/smallholders

<sup>125</sup> GAR (December 18, 2019).

<sup>126</sup> IndoAgri (December 18, 2019). Sustainability Report 2018. At http://www.indofoodagri.com/

<sup>127</sup> Olam (2019). Annual Progress Update 2018. https://www.olamgroup.com/content/dam/olamgroup/products/food-staples/edibleoils/edible-oils-pdfs/sustainable-palm-annual-progress-update-feb-2018.pdf

<sup>128</sup> IOI Group (2019). Harnessing Sustainable Partnerships. Sustainability Report 2019. https://www.ioigroup.com/Content/IR/PDF/SR/2019\_SR.pdf

<sup>129</sup> Wilmar International (2019).

<sup>130</sup> CDP (2019). The Money Trees: The role of corporate action in the fight against deforestation.

<sup>131</sup> CDP (2019). The Palm Book. Tracking progress of sustainable palm oil commitments in Indonesia. https://www.cdp.net/en/reports/downloads/4754.

<sup>132</sup> SPOTT (2019). Palm oil.

<sup>133</sup> Eyes on the Forest. (2018). Enough is Enough: Time for the palm oil market to start the real work to stop driving deforestation [Investigative report]. https://www.eyesontheforest.or.id/reports/investigative-report-enough-is-enough-jun-2018.

<sup>134</sup> OPTEL Group. (n.d.). GeoTraceability Platform for Palm Oil [Use Case]. https://www.optelgroup.com/wpcontent/uploads/2019/05/UC\_GeotraceabilityPlatformPalmOil\_V1\_EN\_WEB.pdf.

<sup>135</sup> Golden Agri-Resources Ltd. (2018, February 27). GAR Announces 100% Traceability to the Plantation for Owned Mills. https://goldenagri.com.sg/wp-content/uploads/2018/02/PressRelease\_GAR\_TTPannouncement\_FIN.pdf.

<sup>136</sup> SPOTT. (2019, October). Cargill Inc. Zoological Society of London (ZSL). https://www.spott.org/palm-oil/cargill-inc/; Cargill. (2019). Advancing systems and accelerating progress: Building a transparent, traceable and sustainable palm oil supply chain [Cargill 2018 Palm Oil Annual Report]. https://www.cargill.com/doc/1432144706116/cargill-2018-palm-report.pdf.

<sup>137</sup> IOI Group. (2019). Harnessing Sustainable Partnerships [Sustainability Report 2019]. https://www.ioigroup.com/Content/IR/PDF/SR/2019 SR.pdf.

<sup>138</sup> Olam. (2019). Annual Progress Update 2018: Olam Sustainable Palm. https://www.olamgroup.com/content/dam/olamgroup/products/food-staples/edibleoils/edible-oils-pdfs/sustainable-palm-annual-progress-update-2018.pdf; Olam. (2017). Olam response to Greenpeace Report: Still Cooking the Climate. https://www.olamgroup.com/content/dam/olamgroup/pdffiles/Olam-response-to-Greenpeace-Report-Still-Cooking-the-Climate.pdf. <sup>139</sup> SPOTT. (2019b, October). Wilmar International Ltd. Zoological Society of London (ZSL). https://www.spott.org/palm-oil/wilmar-international-ltd/.

<sup>140</sup> Brandi, C. et al. (2015).

<sup>141</sup> Rietberg, P. I., & Slingerland, M. A. (2016). Barriers to smallholder RSPO certification: A science-for-policy-paper for the RSPO.

<sup>142</sup> RSPO. (2019, January 15). Smallholders. https://rspo.irg/smallholders; Schoneveld, G. C., van der Haar, S., Ekowati, D., Andrianto, A., Komarudin, H., Okarda, B., et al. (2019). Certification, good agricultural practice and smallholder heterogeneity: Differentiated pathways for resolving compliance gaps in the Indonesian oil palm sector. Global Environmental Change, 57, 101933. http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0959378018306897.

<sup>143</sup> Schoneveld, G. C. et al. (2019); Schoneveld, G. C. et al. (2018).

<sup>144</sup> RSPO (2019), Smallholders

145 RSPO (2019). RSPO 2018 Impact Report.

<sup>146</sup> Rietberg, P. I., & Slingerland, M. A. (2016).

147 Hutabarat, S. et al. (2019).

<sup>148</sup> Martens, K., Kunz, Y., Rosyani, Ir., & Faust, H. (2019). Environmental Governance Meets Reality: A Micro-Scale Perspective on Sustainability Certification Schemes for Oil Palm Smallholders in Jambi, Sumatra. Society & Natural Resources, 1–17.

https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/08941920.2019.1674436.

<sup>149</sup> Schoneveld, G. C. et al. (2019).

<sup>150</sup> Baubach, T. (2019).

<sup>151</sup> Larsen, R. K., Osbeck, M., Dawkins, E., Tuhkanen, H., Nguyen, H., Nugroho, A., et al. (2018). Hybrid governance in agricultural commodity chains: Insights from implementation of 'No Deforestation, No Peat, No Exploitation' (NDPE) policies in the oil palm industry. Journal of Cleaner Production, 183, 544–554. https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0959652618304372; Schleicher, T. et al. (2019). Watts, J. D., & Irawan, S. (2018). Oil Palm in Indonesia [Background Paper]. https://www.profor.info/sites/profor.info/files/Oil%20Palm\_Case%20Study\_LEAVES\_2018.pdf.

<sup>152</sup> Watts, J. D., & Irawan, S. (2018).

<sup>153</sup> Asian Agri. (2019). Corporate Shared Value. https://www.asianagri.com/en/corporate-shared-value.

<sup>154</sup> Asian Agri (2019). Sustainability Report 2018. https://www.asianagri.com/en/sustainability-dashboard/sustainability-policy

<sup>155</sup> Asian Agri (2019). Sustainability Report 2018.

<sup>156</sup> Asian Agri (2019). Sustainability Report 2018.

<sup>157</sup> Musim Mas (2019). Smallholders. https://www.musimmas.com/sustainability/smallholders

<sup>158</sup> van Houten, H., & de Koning, P. (2018).

<sup>159</sup> van Houten, H., & de Koning, P. (2018).

<sup>160</sup> Buchanan, J., Durbin, J., McLaughlin, D., McLaughlin, L., Thomason, K., & Thomas, M. (2019). Exploring the reality of the jurisdictional approach as a tool to achieve sustainability commitments in palm oil and soy supply chains. https://www.conservation.org/docs/default-source/publicationpdfs/jurisdictional\_approach\_full\_report\_march2019\_published.pdf?Status=Master& sfvrsn=23c977ae\_3.

<sup>161</sup> van Houten, H., & de Koning, P. (2018).

<sup>162</sup> Buchanan, J. et al. (2019).

<sup>163</sup> Buchanan, J. et al. (2019).

<sup>164</sup> Watts, J., Nepstad, D., & Irawan, S. (2019, July 10). Can jurisdictional certification curb palm oil deforestation in Indonesia? (commentary). Mongabay Environmental News. https://news.mongabay.com/2019/07/can-jurisdictional-certification-curb-palm-oil-deforestation-in-indonesia/.

<sup>165</sup> Payne, J. (2016, November). Introduction to the Sabah Jursidictional Approach for Sustainable Palm Oil Production. http://www.rt14.rspo.org/ckfinder/userfiles/files/PC4\_4\_2%20Datuk%20Dr%20John %20Payne.pdf.

<sup>166</sup> UTZ (2019). Mass Balance in Cocoa. https://utz.org/what-weoffer/certification/products-we-certify/cocoa/massbalance/#undefined

<sup>167</sup> Cocoa and Forest Initiative and the World Cocoa Foundation (2019). Summary of Company Initial Action Plans for Côte d'Ivoire.

<sup>168</sup> Cocoa and Forest Initiative and the World Cocoa Foundation (2019).

<sup>169</sup> Olam International Limited (2019). Re-imagining Olam: Olam International Limited Annual Report 2018. https://www.olamgroup.com/investors/investorlibrary.html

<sup>170</sup> Barry Callebaut (December 4, 2019). Forever Chocolate Progress Report. https://www.barry-callebaut.com/sites/default/files/2019-11/Forever%20Chocolate%20Progress%20report%20201819.pdf

<sup>171</sup> Cargill (2019). The 2017/2018 Cargill Cocoa & Chocolate Sustainability Report. https://www.cargill.com/static/cocoa-sustainability/#page=24

<sup>172</sup> Mars (March 21, 2019). Mars Announces Progress and Action Plans Toward a Deforestation-free Cocoa Supply Chain. https://www.mars.com/news-and-stories/press-releases/action-plan-deforestation-free-cocoa-supply-chain

<sup>173</sup> Mars (2019).

<sup>174</sup> Mondelēz International (2019). Impact Reporting. At https://www.Mondelēzinternational.com/Snacking-Made-Right/Impact-Reporting

<sup>175</sup> Nestlé (2019). Better Cocoa: Working to end deforestation. At https://www.nestlecocoaplan.com/article-working-end-deforestation

<sup>176</sup> Olam (2019). Cocoa Sustainability: Cocoa Compass. At https://www.olamgroup.com/products/confectionery-beverage-ingredients/cocoa/cocoa-sustainability/tackling-deforestation.html

<sup>177</sup> Nieburg, O. (2018, May 15). Cocoa in the cloud: Traceability goes paperless in digital evolution. Confectionary News. https://www.confectionerynews.com/Article/2018/05/15/Cocoa-in-the-cloud-Traceability-goes-paperless-in-digital-evolution.

<sup>178</sup> The Cargill Cocoa Promise (2019). The 2017/2018 Cargill Cocoa & Chocolate Sustainability Report. Cargill.

<sup>179</sup> World Cocoa Foundation (2019). Summary of Company Initial Action Plans for Côte d'Ivoire. Cocoa & Forests Initiative. https://www.worldcocoafoundation.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/08/CFI-Aggregate-Action-Plan-CdI-02.28.19.pdf

<sup>180</sup> Brayn-Smith, S. (2019, March 21). Turning risk into opportunity: How to keep more of the world's forests intact. Olam. https://www.olamgroup.com/news/all-news/blog/Turning-risk-into-opportunity-how-to-keep-more-of-the-worlds-forests-intact.html.

<sup>181</sup> Barry Callebaut (2019). CFI Action Plan. https://www.barrycallebaut.com/sites/default/files/2019-03/CFI%20Action%20Plan%202019\_March\_05.pdf <sup>182</sup> Nestlé (2019). Cocoa & Forests Initiative: Nestlé's Initial Action Plan to end deforestation and promote forest restoration and protection in the cocoa supply chain. https://www.nestle.com/sites/default/files/assetlibrary/documents/library/documents/corporate social responsibility/cocoa-and-

forests-initiative-nestle-initial-action-plan.pdf

<sup>183</sup> Fountain, A., & Huetz-Adam, F. (2018).

<sup>184</sup> Mars (2019). Mars Cocoa Supply Chain Disclosure. https://gateway.mars.com/m/462faad227ee3889/original/POLICY-Cocoa-Disclosure-All-Tier-1-updated.pdf

<sup>185</sup> van der Velden, I., Saab, W., Gorter, J., van Monsjou, W., Bolton, J., & Evans, G. (2017). Driving Innovations in Smallholder Engagement: Insights in Service Delivery and Finance.

https://www.idhsustainabletrade.com/uploaded/2017/12/Smallholder\_Engagement\_ Report\_2017.pdf.

<sup>186</sup> Olam International. (2019). Cocoa Compass. https://www.olamgroup.com/content/dam/olamgroup/products/Beverages-and-Confectionery-Ingredients/cocoa/cocoapdfs/Cocoa%20Compass%20brochure%20LOW%20RES.pdf.

<sup>187</sup> Cocoa Horizons Foundation. (2019). Cocoa Horizons Program. https://www.cocoahorizons.org/sites/www.cocoahorizons.org/files/COH%20program %20summary\_0.pdf.

<sup>188</sup> Fountain, A., & Huetz-Adam, F. (2018).

<sup>189</sup> Carlson, K. M., Heilmayr, R., Gibbs, H. K., Noojipady, P., Burns, D. N., Morton, D. C., et al. (2018). Effect of oil palm sustainability certification on deforestation and fire in Indonesia. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 115(1), 121–126. http://www.pnas.org/lookup/doi/10.1073/pnas.1704728114.

<sup>190</sup> Lyons-White, J., & Knight, A. T. (2018).

<sup>191</sup> Luttrell C., Komarudin H., Zrust M., Pacheco P., Limberg G., Nurfatriani F., et al. (2018). Implementing sustainability commitments for palm oil in Indonesia: Governance arrangements of sustainability initiatives involving public and private actors. https://www.cifor.org/library/6884/implementing-sustainability-commitments-for-palm-oil-in-indonesia-governance-arrangements-of-sustainability-initiatives-involving-public-and-private-actors/.

<sup>192</sup> Bymolt, R. et al. (2018).

<sup>193</sup> Communication World Cocoa Foundation.

<sup>194</sup> Flanagan, A. C., Midgley, S. J., Stevens, P. R., & McWhirter, L. (2019). Smallholder tree-farmers and forest certification in Southeast Asia: productivity, risks and policies. Australian Forestry, 82(1), 18–28. https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/00049158.2018.1560569.

<sup>195</sup> van Houten, H., & de Koning, P. (2018).

<sup>196</sup> Bymolt, R. et al. (2018).

<sup>197</sup> VOICE Network. (2015). Cocoa Barometer 2015. https://www.voicenetwork.eu/wp-content/uploads/2019/07/Cocoa-Barometer-2015.pdf.

<sup>198</sup> On the 2001 Harkin Engel protocol, adopted by the U.S. congress to address child labor in the cocoa sector: Bertrand, W., & de, B. E. (2015). Trade, Development and Child Labor: Regulation and Law in the Case of Child Labor in the Cocoa Industry. Law and Development Review, 8(2), 503Devel

<sup>199</sup> Ionova, A., & Aboa, A. (2018, May 1). Ivory Coast suspension of cocoa seed plans raises quality concerns. Reuters. https://www.reuters.com/article/ivorycoast-cocoa-yields-idUSL8N1S3A8Y.

<sup>200</sup> World Cocoa Foundation. (2019). World Cocoa Foundation Cocoa Livelihoods Program Phase II: Endline Evaluation Final Report – Main Report. https://www.worldcocoafoundation.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/08/CLP-II-Endline-Evaluation-Report\_Main-Report.pdf.

<sup>201</sup> Coulibaly, L., & Aboa, A. (2013, September 5). Cocoa plant disease pushes deep into Ivory Coast heartland. Reuters. https://www.reuters.com/article/cocoa-ivorycoast-disease-idUSL6N0H133R20130905.

<sup>202</sup> Larsen, R. K. et al. (2018); Schleicher, T. et al. (2019); Watts, J. D., & Irawan, S. (2018).

<sup>203</sup> E. F. Lambin & T. Thorlakson 2018, Sustainability Standards: Interactions Between Private Actors, Civil Society, and Governments, Annu. Rev. Environ. Resour. 43:6.1–6.25

<sup>204</sup> E. F. Lambin et al. 2018, The role of supply-chain initiatives in reducing deforestation, Nature Climate Change 8: 109–116.

<sup>205</sup> J. Lyons-White & A. Knight 2018, Palm oil supply chain complexity impedes implementation of corporate no-deforestation commitments, Global Environmental Change 50: 303–313.

<sup>206</sup> Larsen, R. K. et al. (2018); Schleicher, T. et al. (2019); Watts, J. D., & Irawan, S. (2018).

<sup>207</sup> R.D. Garrett et al. 2019, Criteria for effective zero-deforestation commitments, Global Environmental Change 54: 135–147.

<sup>208</sup> E. F. Lambin & T. Thorlakson 2018, Sustainability Standards: Interactions Between Private Actors, Civil Society, and Governments, Annu. Rev. Environ. Resour. 43:6.1–6.25.

<sup>209</sup> Widyapratami, H., & Bagja, B. (2018, March 6). Achieving Palm Oil Traceability in Indonesia. https://wri-indonesia.org/en/blog/achieving-palm-oil-traceability-indonesia%E2%80%99s-complex-supply-chain.

<sup>210</sup> E. F. Lambin et al. 2018, The role of supply-chain initiatives in reducing deforestation, Nature Climate Change 8: 109–116.